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• 41 000 apartments in three countries

• SEK 44 billion in fair value of properties

• SEK 15,000 per square metre in fair value of properties

• 33 per cent equity to assets ratio 

• 84 per cent of interest rates fixed for more than one year 

• 240 employees
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Apartment holdings as of 31 December 2013

Fair value of properties

Share, per cent SEK m SEK/sq m Required yield, per cent

Sweden 61 26,784 14,115 4.84
Germany 35 15,549 15,398 4.64
Canada 4 1,758 20,710 4.47
Total 100 44,091 14,736 4.75

Canada 
1,683

Germany 
15,769

Sweden 
23,867
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2013 in figures

• Profit increased to SEK 2,426 million, or by 6 per cent

• Equity to assets ratio increased from 27 to 33 per cent

• Rental income increased to SEK 3,025 million, or by 9 per cent

• Rental income for comparable properties increased by 6 per cent

• Operating surplus increased to SEK 1,579 million, or by 12 per cent

• Operating surplus for comparable properties increased by 7 per cent

• Properties sold for SEK 1,801 million. The selling prices were 10 per cent higher than 

fair value at the beginning of the year.

• Change in value of properties of SEK 1,569 million, or 4.4 per cent

• Properties acquired for SEK 6,901 million

• Investments in property holdings of SEK 1,531 million
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Growing metropolitan areas
Akelius buys, develops, upgrades and 
manages residential properties. Property 
holdings are concentrated in metropolitan 
areas exhibiting strong growth. We believe 
that metropolitan areas will continue to 
grow more quickly than, and to the detri-
ment of, smaller cities and communities. As 
such, it is not a coincidence that 76 per cent 
of the portfolio is found in Berlin, Hamburg, 
Toronto, Greater Stockholm, Greater Goth-
enburg and the Öresund Region. The com-
bination of apartments in good locations in 
metropolitan areas with growing populations 
minimises the vacancy risk and provides 
strong growth in rent and operating surplus. 

Upgrading to First Class
Rental apartments are undergoing a re-
naissance. Increasing numbers are seeking 
out rental apartments. But the demand has 
changed. Increasing numbers are seeking out 
rental apartments with the same standard 
as newly built condominiums. Our response 
to this change in demand is to upgrade our 
properties to First Class. We upgrade apart-
ments, façades, entrances and stairwells. 
Over the past three years, we have upgraded 
10,000 apartments.

StreamLine Production
The one-by-one upgrading of 4,000 apart-
ments each year demands an industrial 
approach. Purchasing is centralised. We use 
a proprietary system to manage administra-
tion and logistics.

Cherry-picked properties
We prefer to make many smaller acquisitions 
of exactly the right properties – to cherry 
pick – than a smaller number of larger ac-
quisitions of not quite right properties. Over 
the past three years, we have completed 
130 transactions involving a total of 15,000 
apartments.

Sell fully developed
We sell properties in which we have devel-
oped the potential we are good at extract-
ing, primarily upgraded properties.

Financing from several sources
Financing is raised from banks, the capital 
market and the private market. In total, 
Akelius Fastigheter has agreements with 
25 banks, a listed senior unsecured bond 
and 30,000 private customers who makes 
deposits. Financing from several sources 
reduces the risk. The loan-to-value ratio is 56 
per cent. Fixed-interest rate terms are long. 
84 per cent of the terms are longer than one 
year, making us impervious to changes in 
interest rate levels.

SEK 1.3 billion in liquidity
On average, the liquidity in 2013 was SEK 
1.3 billion. Liquidity is created with cash and 
secured but unutilized lines of credit.

The demand for well located properties 
in big cities is extensive. Within three to 
six months, large portfolios can be sold 
in structured processes, providing Akelius 
Fastigheter with a substantial liquidity boost. 

First class personnel
First class results require first class personnel. 
Training takes place at Akelius University. 
More than one hundred employees have 
graduated in Residential Real Estate Manage-
ment from Akelius University. These gradu-
ates can continue with postgraduate studies.

Reinvested profits
With few exceptions, we have reinvested all 
annual profits in the company. Since the start 
in 1994 the company has grown in average 
by 28 per cent per year.

Apartments in metropolitan areas a growth explosion
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Grunewaldstraße 11 in Schöneberg, Berlin, acquired 2008
Since the acquisition, we have upgraded 7 of the 27 apartments to First Class. See map on page 28.

Stadspredikanten, Östersund, acquired 2005
The inner courtyard was upgraded in 2012. The stairwells, the cellar and the laundry rooms were 

renovated  in 2014. The property has 23 apartments, of which 8 are First Class. See map on page 23.
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4,000 apartments in 2013
Essentially only vacant apartments are 
upgraded. The idea is that no tenant should 
be forced to accept a higher standard 
and thereby higher rent against their will. 
However, existing tenants can of course have 
their apartments upgraded if they so wish.

Condominium standard
In order to ensure exactly the right quality, 
and exactly the right standard for long-term 
sustainability and appeal, two architects 
spent a year shaping the First Class concept. 
The results are summarised in the book 
Akelius Living. The apartments are fitted with 
quality German kitchens manufactured by 
Nobilia and German home appliances manu-
factured by Bosch and Siemens. The parquet 
flooring is supplied by Swedish company 
Kährs. The bathrooms are fitted with sanitary 
porcelain from Gustavsberg and Keramag. 
Rectified tiles and clinkers are supplied by 
Italian manufacturer Marazzi. We upgrade 
the apartments to a standard on a level with 
newly built condominiums, and considerably 
higher than newly built rental apartments. In 
addition to the apartments, we also upgrade 
façades, entrances, stairwells and green 
areas to First Class.

Energy and renovation
Aside from upgrading to First Class, we also 
invest heavily in energy efficiency, attic con-
versions and converting commercial premises 
into apartments. Where possible, we densify.

Investments SEK 1.5 billion in 2013
In 2013, total investments amounted to SEK 
1.5 billion, equivalent to SEK 600 per square 
metre. There are few other property compa-
nies that upgrade at such a rapid rate.

Centralised purchasing
Material purchasing is centralised and stand-
ardised. The centralised purchasing of several 
hundred thousand square metres of parquet 
flooring, thousands of kitchens and several 
hundred tonnes of tiles and clinkers provides 
volume discounts and exactly the right 
quality and standard that tenants want.

Logistics decisive
Exactly the right kitchen, exactly the right 
amount of parquet flooring, exactly the right 
amount of tiles and clinkers and exactly the 
right sanitary porcelain must be delivered 
at exactly the right time to exactly the right 
apartment. Logistics are decisive for keeping 
costs under control. 

In order to manage the logistics – and the 
administration – of the upgrades, we have 
developed a support system. This system 
simplifies, among other things, logistics and 
cost control considerably. The system was 
introduced at the beginning of 2014.

Internal coordination
We continually expand our personnel 
numbers, in order to manage more of the 
coordination work involved in the upgrades. 
This is to reduce the time taken for and the 
cost of the upgrades. Moreover, more con-
struction managers means improved quality 
control.

Upgrading to First Class 
increases demand

StreamLine Production
lowers upgrade costs
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Lettestraße in Prenzlauer Berg, Berlin, acquired 2010 
Kitchen from Nobilia, parquet floor from Kährs, home appliances from the manufacturer Bosch and 

Siemens. The property has been fully upgraded, including a façade makeover and renovated entrances 
and stairwells. We have improved the inner courtyard and converted the attic into apartments.  

Of the 35 apartments, 13 are First Class. See map on page 28.

Lettestraße in Prenzlauer Berg, Berlin, acquired 2010
Tiles from Marazzi, sanitary porcelain from Keramag. See map on page 28.
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One hundred graduate employees
In 2013, the third class of Residential Real 
Estate students graduated from Akelius Uni-
versity. As a result, more than one hundred 
employees have now graduated from Akelius 
University. This autumn, the fourth class will 
begin the course, with another forty employ-
ees attending. 

Relevant education
Our goal is to have the best and most 
relevantly educated personnel among the 
world's largest property companies. First 
class results are only achieved with first class 
personnel.

Each class studies for one year, including one 
to two weeks in Cyprus, Canada, Sweden 
and Germany. The students receive extensive 
study materials for home studies and to 
prepare their presentations.

Most students already have academic qual-
ifications and work experience. The course 
provides expertise in calculation, property 
and asset management, upgrades and 
projects, letting and service, property acqui-
sitions and sales, property valuations, verbal 
and written presentations. The students 
write reports and deliver a number of pres-
entations in English, the Group's corporate 
language. Current development projects 
at Akelius provide the basis for their final 
projects.

Postgraduate studies
Graduates from Akelius University can 
continue with postgraduate studies. In 2014, 
we will offer courses in negotiation, leader-
ship and media. We also offer further studies 
in calculation and Excel.

Delegation – effective and attractive
Leading expertise in modern property 
management enables us to make better 
decisions. We can delegate more decisions, 
which makes us more effective. A high level 
of delegation makes us more interesting and 
attractive as an employer.

Internal recruitment
Employees with relevant knowledge and 
experience of making decisions make us 
more self-sufficient when recruiting new 
managers.

Brainee
In 2012, Akelius launched its first trainee 
programme. We call it Brainee. Five people, 
three from Sweden and two from Germany, 
are on a two-year Brainee programme. 
Half the time they are stationed at different 
overseas offices, and half the time at their 
home offices. 

The programme includes practical experience 
in letting, property and asset management, 
controlling, transactions and valuation. The 
final six months are spent specialising.

The next Brainee programme starts in 2014.

Akelius University provides first class personnel
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Students refining their knowledge of Excel and calculation during one of many group works.

Dale Carnegie pushing the students in presentation technique in Florida.
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Ten-year rule
Akelius acquires residential properties:

• In cities with growing incomes and 
growing populations;

• In attractive cities with soul;

• In city districts or suburbs that we 
believe will be improved; and

• That show potential, often upgrade 
potential. 

Furthermore, the ten-year rule says that the 
total return over ten years is more important 
than the initial yield. 

Over the past three years, we have acquired 
properties for SEK 12 billion, and in 2013 we 
acquired properties for SEK 7 billion.

Standardised cherry picking
Our focus on long-term profitability means 
that we strive to buy exactly the right prop-
erties. We prefer to make many smaller 
acquisitions – to cherry pick properties – than 
a small number of portfolio acquisitions. 
Over the past three years, we have made one 
acquisition a week. 

The acquisitions follow a well-proven proce-
dure covering everything from due diligence 
to budgets and the basis for a decision. This 
is linked to clear criteria for acquisitions and 
enables us to act quickly.

Market knowledge
Essentially all acquisitions are made in city 
districts or blocks where we already own 
or have owned properties. This makes it 
relatively easy for us to correctly assess 
everything from rent and vacancy levels to 
price and return levels. 

Local acquisitions ensure realistic 
assumptions
Acquisitions are made locally. Each regional 
office is responsible for acquisitions in its 
region. The advantage is realistic assump-
tions about income and costs. The regional 
office must then deliver on the assumptions 
made during the acquisition. Property acqui-
sitions are regularly followed up.

Twenty years of experience ensures 
accuracy
With twenty years of experience of property 
management, we can accurately estimate 
the expenses for upgrades, maintenance, 
operation and administration.

Cash purchases
Our strong financial position has enabled us 
to make cash payments for all acquisitions 
over the past five years. Combined with our 
ability to act quickly, sellers find Akelius an 
attractive buyer.

Sell fully developed
Over the past three years, we have sold 
properties for SEK 6 billion, all in Sweden. In 
2013, we sold properties for SEK 1.8 billion.

Sales most often concern properties that 
have reached the potential we are good at 
extracting; properties which in our eyes are 
upgraded and fully developed.

Another large market is the one for conver-
sions to tenant-owned apartments. 

In other cases, sales may concern properties 
with too much commercial space. 

Acquire via cherry picking, sell fully developed
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Acquisitions for SEK 6,9 billion were made in 
2013. The majority of these acquisitions are 
attributable to Sweden due to the acquisition 
of Apartment Bostad Väst AB. The acquisi-
tions in Canada refer to acquisitions of pro- 
perties in Toronto from a fellow subsidiary.

The price per square metre varied from SEK 
11,514 per sq m in Sweden to SEK 20,416 
per sq m in Canada.

Properties acquired 2013, SEK million Properties acquired 2013

Canada

Canada

Germany

Germany

Sweden

Sweden

SEK/sq m Required yield

1,750

1,700

1,650

1,600

1,550

1,500

1,450
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20,000

18,000

16,000

14,000

12,000
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During the year, we sold properties for SEK 
1,8 billion. On average, the selling prices 
were 10 per cent higher than the fair value 
at the beginning of the year.

In 2013, the selling prices per square metre for 
sold properties were 42 per cent higher than 
the square metre prices for acquired properties, 
reflecting the fact that we sell fully developed 
properties and replace them with properties 
with potential.

Properties sold 2013, SEK million Selling prices in comparison with  
acquisition prices in 2013, SEK/square metre

Selling price Selling priceAcquisition priceFair value
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Lastropsweg in Eimsbüttel, Hamburg, acquired 2007

We have upgraded the property to First Class. We have renovated the façade, entrances and 
stairwells. The property has a new roof, new balconies and a new heating system. The property has 

29 apartments, of which 15 are First Class. See map on page 28.

Donlands Avenue in Old East York, Toronto, acquired 2013

The property houses 36 apartments. The property's common areas are already First Class, and as 
tenants fluctuate we will also upgrade the apartments to First Class. See map on page 33.
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Hackerstraße in Friedenau, Berlin, acquired 2008

We have upgraded the stairwells and inner courtyard to First Class. In 2014, we will convert the 
attic into apartments. Of 14 apartments, we have upgraded 3 to First Class. See map on page 28.
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Required yield

Cherry picking the right location

Operating surplus SEK 1,579 million
Rental income less costs for operation, 
maintenance and administration is defined as 
the operating surplus. In 2013, the operating 
surplus was SEK 1,579 million.

Increase in value SEK 1,569 million
A property's value is established, in broad 
terms, by capitalising the operating surplus 
with the property's required yield. At the end 
of 2013,  we used an average required yield 
of 4.75 per cent. By upgrading to First Class, 
with inflation, and by cherry picking the right 
location we create growth in the operating 
surplus. A higher operating surplus provides 
an increase in value. In recent years, the 
increase in the operating surplus in compara-
ble holdings has been between 4 and 8 per 
cent per annum. In 2013, the increase was 7 
per cent. 

Increase in value #1 
Upgrading to First Class 
SEK 723 million
Upgrading apartments, façades, entrances 
and stairwells increases attractiveness, 
which increases rental income. Improved 
or replaced heating systems, windows and 
so on reduce operating costs. StreamLine 
Production reduces the upgrade costs. As a 
rule of thumb, one can say that on average 
the operating surplus increases by 7 per cent 
of the upgrade costs. In 2013, we performed 
upgrades for SEK 1,531 million, whereby 
the operating surplus increased by SEK 
107 million. Capitalised with the assessed 
required yields less the costs of the upgrades, 
the increase in value from upgrades was SEK 
723 million.

Increase in value #2 
Inflation SEK 170 million
Rental income and costs increase with infla-
tion, as does the operating surplus. With an 
operating surplus of SEK 1,579 million, infla-
tion of half a per cent provides an increase of 
SEK 8 million. Capitalised with the assessed 
required yields, the increase in value from 
inflation was SEK 170 million.

How we create profit

Increase in value #3 
Cherry picking the right location 
SEK 468 million
The right location increases the operating 
surplus due to increased demand from pop-
ulation growth, increased ability to pay from 
economic growth and micro location improve-
ments from, for example, B to A locations. 
This profit component is the residual item 
that is not explained by inflation or upgrades. 
Location increased the operating surplus by 
SEK 22 million in 2013. Capitalised with the 
assessed required yields, the increase in value 
from location was SEK 468 million.

Increase in value #4 
Sales of developments SEK 153 million
During the year, we sold properties in excess 
of fair value. The realized increase in value 
was SEK 153 million.

Increase in value #5 
Change in required yield SEK 55 million
The required yield used in the valuation of 
the properties has a direct effect on profit, 
as it determines the value of the proper-
ties to a large extent. The required yield is 
governed by interest rate levels, inflation, risk 
premiums and the demand for properties. 
The required yield is also governed by the 
property's micro location. A micro location 
improvement from, for example, B to A, 
reduces the property's required yield and 
thereby increases its value. In 2013, we 
deemed that the required yield for compara-
ble properties decreased by 0.01 percentage 
points, thereby increasing the value by SEK 
55 million.

Other costs SEK -140 million
Other costs comprise central administration, 
depreciation and transaction costs for sold 
properties.

Operating profit SEK 3,008 million
The operating profit corresponds to a return 
on the opening property value of 8.5 per 
cent. The operating surplus comprised 4.5 
per cent, the increase in value 4.4 per cent. 
Other costs corresponded to 0.4 per cent.
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Operating surplus 1,579

Increase in operating surplus 138
-of which upgrades                                                     107
-of which inflation                                                           8
-of which location                                                         22

Increase in value from increased operating surplus 2,892

Cost of upgrades -1,531

Change in required yield 55

Realised change in value 153

Net change in value 1,569

Other costs -140

Operating profit 3,008

SEK 1,531 million * 7% yield 
SEK 1,579 million in operating 
surplus * 0.51% inflation

SEK 138 million / 4.75% required yield

Sales of properties in excess of fair value 

Central administration, other costs etc.

Corresponds to a return of 8.5% of 
the opening property value

Slightly more than half of the profit before financial items and tax for 2013 was generated 
by the operating surplus. Upgrades generated SEK 723 million, inflation SEK 170 million and 
location SEK 468 million. Change in required yield amounted to SEK 55 million, sales amounted 
to SEK 153 million and other costs amounted to SEK 140 million. Accordingly, operating profit 
was SEK 3,008 million.

Required yield

Sales

Other costs

Operating profit

Cherry picking the right location

Inflation

Upgrades to First Class

Operating surplus

Operating profit, SEK m
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Financing

Twenty-five banks SEK 22 billion
Secured loans with banks as lenders are 
used as first mortgage loans. As of the end 
of 2013, Akelius Fastigheter had borrowings 
from twenty-five banks in three countries. 
Using many banks makes us independent 
of the financial strength of any particular 
bank. Using banks in three countries makes 
us less dependent on the financial strength 
of a particular country. At year-end, the 
secured bank loans totalled SEK 22 billion, 
corresponding to a loan-to-value ratio of 49 
per cent.

Bond loan SEK 1 billion
During 2012 to 2013, senior unsecured 
bonds of SEK 1 billion were issued. The 
bonds are listed on Nasdaq OMX and mature 
in June 2015.

30,000 private customers 
SEK 0.5 billion
Private customers may save in Akelius Spar. 
The loans are not secured.

Other unsecured loans SEK 1.9 billion
SEK 1.9 billion is borrowed from companies 
within the Akelius Foundation Group. 

Equity SEK 15.2 billion
The book value of equity totals SEK 15.2 
billion, corresponding to an equity to assets 
ratio of 33 per cent.

Long fixed-interest rate terms
84 per cent of the interest rates are fixed 
for more than one year. This means that a 
sudden increases in interest rate levels gives 
low impact. Akelius Fastigheter can manage 
an interest rate level of ten per cent without 
the interest coverage ratio falling below one. 
Long fixed-interest rate terms also means 
that variations in the interest coverage ratio 
will be low and have been low. At the end of 
2013, the interest coverage ratio was 1.2.

4.8 per cent average interest rate
The average interest rate for interest-bear-
ing loans was 4.8 per cent at the end of 
2013. When the current fixed-interest terms 
are maturing, the average interest rate is 
expected to decrease. The current interest 
rate levels are much lower compared to 
when the fixed-interest terms were entered 
into. 

Actively minimized refinancing risk
Upgrades to First Class provide high value 
growth, which quickly reduces the loan-to-
value ratio. This means that when refinanc-
ing secured loans, the loan-to-value ratio is 
usually lower than the average loan-to-value 
ratio of 49 per cent, which reduces the 
refinancing risk.

Large loans are generally extended twelve 
to eighteen months before maturity. Smaller 
loans are generally refinanced nine months 
before maturity.

The refinancing risk for unsecured loans is 
minimized by the fact that the loan-to-value 
ratio for secured loans is low and can be 
increased to completely replace unsecured 
loans.

Liquidity SEK 1.6 billion
At the end of 2013, liquidity was SEK 1.6 
billion. Liquidity is created with secured but 
unutilised credit facilities and cash. Over the 
past five years, the average liquidity has been 
SEK 1.6 billion.

First class apartments in metropolitan areas 
in central locations is in demand in the 
transaction market, which creates a substan-
tial hidden liquid reserve. With a lead time 
of three to six months, large structured sales 
can be made.

If necessary, upgrades to First Class can be 
put on hold with three months notice.
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Equity to assets ratio 33 per cent

Secured 
bank loans 
49%

Deferred tax, 
derivatives, other 11%
Bond, private customers, 
shareholder loans 7%

Equity 33%

Liquidity SEK 1.597 billion

A third of the properties are financed with 
equity, half with secured bank loans and 
seven per cent with unsecured loans. Other 
corresponds to deferred tax, derivatives fair 
value liability and other non-interest-bearing 
liabilities.

Average liquidity over the past five years was 
SEK 1.6 billion. At the end of 2013, liquidity 
was SEK 1.6 billion.

Long fixed-interest rate terms provide high tolerance to interest rate level 
fluctuations

Only 16 per cent of the loans have a fixed-interest rate term of less than one year. This makes 
us impervious to rapid changes in interest rate levels. The interest rate can increase up to ten 
per cent without the interest coverage ratio falling below one.
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We acquired our first apartments in  
Gothenburg 20 years ago. We are now 
one of Sweden's largest private property 
companies, with 24,000 apartments in 
Sweden. Today, 65 per cent of our holdings 
are located in Greater Stockholm, Greater 
Gothenburg and the Öresund Region. The 
properties are managed by 130 employees at 
12 local offices.

5.8 per cent growth in average rent
Slightly more than half of the growth in rent 
is the result of new lets while the other half 
is a result of the annual rent negotiations 
with the Swedish Union of Tenants. 

Acquisition of Apartment Bostad  
Väst AB
During the year, we acquired Apartment 
Bostad Väst AB, with 3,600 apartments in 
western Sweden. In addition, we acquired 
a property in Greater Stockholm with 50 
apartments.

During the year, we sold 1,500 apartments, 
to both tenant-owners' associations and the 
investment market. The selling prices were 
on average 10 per cent higher than the fair 
value at the beginning of the year.

Regulated rental market
Due to the regulation rental levels are low in 
comparaison to rental levels that would exist 
on a free market. This leads to low vacancies 
and a low level of new production. 

Heating included
The tenant usually pays rent which includes 
heating, water and snow removal, regardless 
of how much heat and water is consumed, 
and regardless of snow removal costs. This 
means that the operating surplus varies 
depending on snowfall and temperature.

20 years in Sweden

Required yield, fair value assessment, 
per cent
Opening 4.79
Exchange differences -
Acquisitions 0.06
Sales 0.00
Comparable -0.01
Closing 4.84

Fair value of properties, SEK million
Opening 23,456
Exchange differences -
Change in value 815
Investments 964
Acquisitions 3,350
Sales -1,801
Closing 26,784

Total return, properties, per cent
Operating surplus 4.3
Change in value 3.5
Total 7.8
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Åre 318 apartments

Lysekil 295 apartments

Halmstad 1,314 apartments

Trollhättan 700 apartments

Helsingborg 2,222 apartments

Gothenburg 1,206 apartments

Malmö 2,129 apartments
Trelleborg 689 apartments

Haparanda 151 apartments
Luleå 124 apartments

Umeå 701 apartments

Östersund 1,070 apartments

Enköping 465 apartments

Skövde 821 apartments

Stockholm 9,011 apartments

Uddevalla 142 apartments

Eskilstuna 617 apartments

Borås 1,590 apartments

Lund 288 apartments

Property holdings as of 31 December 2013

   Square metres, thousands      Rent

Apartments Commercial Total SEK/sq m/year Potential*, per cent

Greater Stockholm 675 47 722 1,135 27

Malmö 131 46 177 1,258 14

Helsingborg 161 10 171 1,094 18

Gothenburg 74 8 82 1,155 27

Halmstad 81 14 95 1,182 4

Borås 104 4 108 1,035 30

Östersund 66 17 83 1,069 23

Other 348 111 459 1,035 23

Total 1,640 257 1,897 1,114 22

* New lease level for properties owned throughout 2013 in relation to the average rent at the beginning the year.
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10 km

Helsingborg 
2,222 apartments

 5% of the portfolio
0.13 m inhabitants

11% population growth in 10 years

Malmö 
2,129 apartments

5% of the portfolio 
 0.31 m inhabitants

17% population growth in 10 years

Greater Stockholm 
9,011 apartments

22% of the portfolio 
2.2 m inhabitants

16% population growth in 10 years

Properties marked in red were acquired in 2013

10 km

5 km
5 km
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Gothenburg 
1,206 apartments

3% of the portfolio
 0.75 m inhabitants

11% population growth in 10 years

Borås 
1,590 apartments

4% of the portfolio 
0.11 m inhabitants

7% population growth in 10 years

Halmstad 
1,314 apartments

3% of the portfolio
 0.09 m inhabitants

8% population growth in 10 years

Östersund 
1,070 apartments

3% of the portfolio 
0.06 m inhabitants 

3% population growth in 10 years

Properties marked in red were acquired in 2013

10 km 5 km

5 km 5 km

Stadspredikanten 
see image on page 7
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The average residential rent increased from  
1,074 to 1,114 SEK/sq m/year. For the prop-
erties that were owned throughout 2013, the 
rent increased from 1,066 to 1,128 SEK/  
sq m/year, corresponding to 5.8 per cent. 
Sales for the year reduced the average rent, a 
result of the sale of fully developed properties 
with high rents. The average rent for sold 
properties was 1,216 SEK/sq m/year. Acqui-
sitions for the year also reduced the average 
rent. The average rent for acquired properties 
was 1,032 SEK/sq m/year.

The new lease level for properties owned 
throughout 2013 was1,298 SEK/sq m/year, 
which was 22 per cent higher than the 
average rent at the beginning of the year. 
The reasons are upgrades to First Class and 
attractive locations.

Average rent new leases,  
SEK/square metre/year 
Comparable properties
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Rental income increased by 5.5 per cent in 
2013 in comparison with 2012 for properties 
owned throughout 2012 and 2013.

The operating surplus increased by 3.3 per cent 
in 2013 in comparison with 2012 for properties 
owned throughout 2012 and 2013.

Rental income, SEK million 
Comparable properties

Operating surplus, SEK million 
Comparable properties

2013

New lease level 2013

20132012

Average rent 2013

2012

Total portfolio 1 Jan 2013 1,074
Property sales -8
Comparable portfolio 1 Jan 2013 1,066
Increase in comparable portfolio 62
Comparable portfolio 1 Jan 2014 1,128
Property acquisitions -14
Total portfolio 1 Jan 2014 1,114

Average residential rent  
SEK/square metre/year

5.8%
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During the year, we acquired Apartment 
Bostad Väst AB, with properties in, among 
other places, Gothenburg, Halmstad, Borås, 
Skövde and Trollhättan. The price was SEK 
3.3 billion, SEK 11,527 per sq m.

During the year, we sold properties for SEK 
1.8 billion. Among them, a portfolio of 796 
apartments in the Öresund Region and a 
property in Luleå with 483 apartments, which 
was converted to tenant-owned. The average 
selling price was SEK 19,332 per sq m.

Property acquisitions Property sales, SEK million
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In 2013, investments totalled SEK 964 
million. We upgraded 2,518 apartments to 
First Class for SEK 662 million.

In 2013, the real vacancy rate fluctuated 
between 0.6 and 1.0 per cent. On average, it 
was 0.7 per cent. During the year, the vacancy 
rate was between 1.8 and 2.4 per cent. The 
difference between the real vacancy rate and 
the vacancy rate comprises the apartments 
that are left empty to upgrade.

Investments, SEK million Real vacancy rate, per cent

Required yield Selling price

2013 Dec 2013

SEK/sq m Fair value

2012 Jan 2013
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Hamburg 3,750 apartments

We acquired our first property in Berlin in 
2006. Today, we have 16,000 apartments, 
of which 70 per cent are in Berlin and 
Hamburg. Most properties are centrally 
located, near to the city centres. The prop-
erties are managed by our 75 employees in 
Berlin, Hamburg, Cologne, Frankfurt and 
Munich. 

5.6 per cent growth in average rent 
The growth in rent is driven primarily by new 
leases. The new lease rent in 2013 was 47 
per cent higher than the average rent at the 
beginning of the year, a result of upgrades 
to First Class and popular locations. New 
leases represented 70 per cent of the growth 
in rent of 5.6 per cent. The remainder is the 
result of adjustments to Mietspiegel, indexed 
contract and modernisation increases.

Cherry picking 
During the year, we conducted 35 transac-
tions involving a total of 43 properties and 
2,000 apartments, of which 79 per cent in 
Berlin and Hamburg. No properties were 
sold.

Unrestricted new lease rent
Under new legislation expected to come 
into force in 2015, the maximum increase in 
rent for existing tenants will be 15 per cent 
during each three-year period. In the case of 
modernisation, nine per cent of the cost can 
burden the tenant via rent increases. For new 
leases, the maximum rent is to be on a level 
with comparable apartments. Our assess-
ment is that the new legislation will have 
little to very little impact on Akelius.

Cold rent 
Costs for heating, water, electricity, sanita-
tion, property tax and other operating costs 
are invoiced to the tenant. This means that 
the operating surplus in Germany is inde-
pendent of cold weather and snowfall.

Inner city locations in Germany’s 
Big Seven

Required yield, fair value assessment, 
per cent
Opening 4.64
Exchange differences -
Acquisitions 0.00
Sales -
Comparable 0.00
Closing 4.64

Fair value of properties, SEK million
Opening 11,981
Exchange differences 454
Change in value 728
Investments 568
Acquisitions 1,818
Sales -
Closing 15,549

Total return, properties, per cent
Operating surplus 4.7
Change in value 6.1
Total 10.8
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Kiel 406 apartments

Hamburg 3,750 apartments
Lüneburg 99 apartments

Rostock 278 apartments

Berlin 7,742 apartments

Erlangen 286 apartments
Nuremberg 100 apartments
Regensburg 131 apartments

Augsburg 167 apartments
Munich 689 apartments

Frankfurt 484 apartments

Stuttgart 105 apartments

Cologne 596 apartments
Düsseldorf 553 apartments

Mainz 383 apartments

Property holdings as of 31 December 2013

    Square metres, thousands     Rent

Apartments Commercial Total EUR/sq m/month Potential*, per cent

Berlin 487 20 507 6.77 49
Hamburg 211 12 223 9.20 49
Munich 38 1 39 10.09 42
Cologne 42 2 44 8.50 32
Frankfurt 31 3 34 10.96 23
Düsseldorf 32 5 37 7.90 52
Other 121 5 126 7.67 36
Total 962 48 1,010 7.80 47

* New lease level for properties owned throughout 2013 in relation to the average rent at the beginning of the year.
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Grunewaldstraße 
see image on page 7

Lastropsweg 
see image on page 14

Berlin 
7,742 apartments

19% of the portfolio 
 3.5 m inhabitants

5% population growth in 10 years

Hamburg 
3,750 apartments

9% of the portfolio 
1.8 m inhabitants 

5% population growth in 10 years

Hackerstraße 
see image on page 15

Lettestraße 
see image on page 9

Properties marked in red were acquired in 2013

10 km

10 km

Pagenfelder Straße 20 
see image on cover page
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Frankfurt 
484 apartments

1% of the portfolio 
0.7 m inhabitants 

7% population growth in 10 years

Cologne 
596 apartments

1% of the portfolio 
1.0 m inhabitants 

6% population growth in 10 years

Düsseldorf 
553 apartments

1% of the portfolio 
0.6 m inhabitants 

4% population growth in 10 years

Munich 
689 apartments

2% of the portfolio 
1.4 m inhabitants 

12% population growth in 10 years

Properties marked in red were acquired in 2013

10 km
10 km

5 km
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The average rent rose from 7.52 to 7.80 
EUR/sq m/month. For properties that were 
owned throughout 2013, the rent increased 
from 7.52 to 7.94 EUR/sq m/month, cor-
responding to a growth of 5.6 per cent. 
Acquired properties decreased the average 
rent by 0.14 EUR/sq m/month. The average 
rent for acquired properties was 6.79  
EUR/sq m/month.

The new lease level for properties owned 
throughout 2013 was 11.06 EUR/sq m/
month, which was 47 per cent higher than 
the average rent at the beginning of the 
year. The main reasons are upgrades to First 
Class and popular locations.

Rental income increased by 6.8 per cent in 
2013 in comparison with 2012 for properties 
owned throughout 2012 and 2013.

The operating surplus increased by 13.7 per 
cent in 2013 in comparison with 2012 for 
properties owned throughout 2012 and 2013.

Average rent new leases,  
EUR/square metre/month 
Comparable properties
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13.7%

Rental income, SEK million 
Comparable properties

Operating surplus, SEK million 
Comparable properties

2013

New lease level 2013

20132012

Average rent 2013

2012

Average residential rent 
EUR/square metre/month

Total portfolio 1 Jan 2013 7.52
Property sales -
Comparable portfolio 1 Jan 2013 7.52
Increase in comparable portfolio 0.42
Comparable portfolio 1 Jan 2014 7.94
Property acquisitions -0.14
Total portfolio 1 Jan 2014 7.80

5.6%
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In 2013, we acquired properties for SEK 1.8 
billion, of which 56 per cent in Berlin and 
23 per cent in Hamburg. Other acquisitions 
were made in Cologne, Frankfurt, Düssel-
dorf, Mainz and Munich. The average price 
per sq m was SEK 13,923.

Investments increased by SEK 159 million 
or 39 per cent. The increase is explained 
primarily by the larger portfolio. In 2013, 993 
apartments were upgraded to First Class.

In 2013, the real vacancy rate fluctuated 
between 0.3 and 0.9 per cent. On average, it 
was 0.4 per cent. During the year, the vacancy 
rate was between 1.7 and 3.0 per cent. The 
difference between the real vacancy rate and 
the vacancy rate comprises the apartments 
that are left empty to upgrade.

Average rent new leases,  
EUR/square metre/month 
Comparable properties

Property acquisitions Property sales
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Investments, SEK million Real vacancy rate, per cent

Hamburg Other

2013

Berlin

2012

No sales

SEK/sq m Required yield
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At the end of 2013, the Akelius Fastigheter 
Group acquired a property portfolio in 
Toronto, Canada. The seller was a fellow 
subsidiary of Akelius Fastigheter AB. The 
section about Canada shows the develop-
ment as if the Akelius Fastigheter Group had 
owned the properties since 2011. 

After a little more than two years in Canada, 
we have a portfolio of 1,700 apartments in 
central Toronto. The properties are managed 
by our 12 employees in Toronto.

Administrative system implementation
In 2014, we will implement an administrative 
system, which will enable us to manage the 
properties without external partners towards 
the end of 2014.

7.7 per cent growth in average rent
The growth in rent is driven primarily by new 
leases. The new lease level in 2013 was 39 
per cent higher than the average rent at the 
beginning of the year. 75 per cent of the 
growth was generated by new leases and 
the remainder by adjustments to existing 
rental agreements.

Acquisition of 650 apartments
During the year, we acquired 650 apart-
ments, all in Toronto, in eight transactions. 
No properties were sold. 

Unrestricted new leases
There are no rent restrictions on new leases. 
Additionally, rents can be adjusted following 
modernisation work and in accordance with 
an index established by the authorities, a 
so-called guideline increase.

Heating included
The tenant usually pays rent which includes 
heating, water and snow removal, regardless 
of how much heat and water is consumed, 
and regardless of snow removal costs. This 
means that the operating surplus varies 
depending on snowfall and temperature.

Central Toronto

Required yield, fair value assessment, 
per cent
Opening 4.52
Exchange differences -
Acquisitions -0.05
Sales -
Comparable 0.00
Closing 4.47

Fair value of properties, SEK million
Opening 1,074
Exchange differences -78
Change in value 53
Investments 83
Acquisitions 626
Sales -
Closing 1,758

Total return, properties, per cent
Operating surplus 4.7
Change in value 5.0
Total 9.7
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Donlands Avenue 

see image on page 14

Properties marked in red were acquired in 2013 by a fellow subsidiary of Akelius Fastigheter AB. 
At the end of 2013, Akelius Fastigheter bought these and earlier acquired properties in Toronto 
from its fellow subsidiary.

Toronto 
4% of the portfolio 

5.9 m inhabitants 
19% population growth in 10 years

10 km

Property holdings as of 31 December 2013

Number of  
apartments

Square metres, thousands   Rent

Apartments Commercial Total CAD/sq ft/month Potential*, per cent

Toronto 1,683 85 0 85 1.94 39
Total 1,683 85 0 85 1.94 39

* New lease level for properties owned throughout 2013 in relation to the average rent at the beginning of the year.
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The average rent fell from 1.96 to 1.94  
CAD /sq ft/month. The reason for this is that 
the properties acquired during the year had 
low rents relative to the properties held at the 
beginning of the year. The rent for acquired 
properties was 1.70 CAD/sq ft/month. For 
the properties that were owned throughout 
2013, the rent increased from 1.96 to 2.11 
CAD/sq ft/month, corresponding to a growth 
of 7.7 per cent. 

The new leaes level for properties owned 
throughout 2013 was 2.71 CAD/sq ft/
month, which was 39 per cent higher than 
the average rent at the beginning of the 
year. The main reasons are upgrades to First 
Class and popular locations.

Average rent new leases,  
CAD/square feet/month 
Comparable properties
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Rental income increased by 21 per cent in 
2013 in comparison with 2012 for properties 
owned throughout 2012 and 2013.

The operating surplus increased by 56 per cent 
in 2013 in comparison with 2012 for properties 
owned throughout 2012 and 2013.

Rental income, SEK million 
Comparable properties

Operating surplus, SEK million 
Comparable properties

2013 20132012 2012
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New lease level 2013Average rent 2013

Average residential rent 
CAD/square feet/month

Total portfolio 1 Jan 2013 1.96
Property sales -
Comparable portfolio 1 Jan 2013 1.96
Increase in comparable portfolio 0.15
Comparable portfolio 1 Jan 2014 2.11
Property acquisitions -0.16
Total portfolio 1 Jan 2014 1.94

7.7%
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Average rent new leases,  
CAD/square feet/month 
Comparable properties

In 2013, we acquired 636 apartments in 
Toronto for SEK 0.6 billion. The price per 
square metre was SEK 18,192. The required 
yield was 4.4 per cent.

Property acquisitions Property sales
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Investments increased by SEK 56 million or 
212 per cent The large increase is explained 
primarily by the larger portfolio. In 2013, 135 
apartments were upgraded to First Class.

In 2013, the real vacancy rate fluctuated 
between 0.4 and 3.7 per cent. During the year, 
the vacancy rate was between 3.0 and 5.0 per 
cent. The difference between the real vacancy 
rate and the vacancy rate comprises the apart-
ments that are left empty to upgrade.

Investments, SEK million Real vacancy rate, per cent

Required yield

2013 Dec 2013

SEK/sq m

2012 Jan 2013

No sales
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Board

Pål Ahlsén

Board member and CEO

Born 1972

Board member since 2010

Economist. Employed since 
2004. Previously Country 
Manager Germany.

Leif Norburg

Chair

Born 1947

Board member since 2010

Many years of experience 
from banking and finance, 
including CEO of Danske 
Bank in Sweden.

Roger Akelius

Board member and founder

Born 1945

Board member since 2007

Founded the property company 
in 1994. Experience from IBM, 
lecturer at Chalmers. Started 
Akelius Skatt and Akelius 
Insurance in the 1980s.

Anders Janson

Board member

Born 1954

Board member since 2005

Solicitor and former CEO 
of Foyen AB. Specialises in 
property.

Igor Rogulj

Board member

Born 1965

Board member since 2010

Architect educated in  
London. Has worked in Berlin 
for the past twenty years.
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CanadaGermanySweden

University

IT and System

StreamLine Production

Controlling

Finance

CEO

Country Managers
The country managers are responsible for 
profitability in their respective countries. This 
means responsibility for property manage-
ment, letting, service, upgrades, projects, 
acquisitions and sales, property valuations, 
accounting in subsidiaries and tax and VAT 
returns.

The country organisations were staffed by 
217 employees at year-end.

Group Administration
Group Administration is responsible for 
overarching accounting and tax matters 
and consolidating the Group's accounts, as 
well as financing and liquidity management. 
Further responsibilities include purchasing 
materials and StreamLine Production, IT and 
systems, education via Akelius University and 
controlling.

Group Administration was staffed by 19 
employees at year-end.

Management
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Directors´ report

The Board of Directors of Akelius Fastigheter 
AB (publ), registered company number 
556156-0383, Box 104, 182 12 Danderyd, 
street address Svärdvägen 3A, hereby 
submits the annual report and consolidated 
financial statements for 2013.

Ownership structure
All shares in Akelius Fastigheter AB are 
owned by Akelius Apartments Ltd, Cyprus, 
registered company number 84077.

Operations
Akelius Fastigheter’s business concept entails 
the long-term ownership, development and 
management of residential properties able 
to generate constantly growing cash flow. 
Low financial risk is achieved through low 
loan-to-value ratios, fixed-interest rates and 
capital tied up on long term.

Throughout  2013 operations remained 
focused on increasing the standard of the 
existing holding by upgrading apartments to 
First Class. The operations has also incorpo-
rated acquisitions of properties with up-
grading potential in Sweden and Germany. 
At the end of the year a property portfolio 
in Toronto was acquired from a fellow 
subsidiary within the Akelius Apartments 
Group. This was the first step in a ongoing 
restructuring of the Akelius Group which 
was completed in March 2014 by Akelius 
Fastigheter’s acquisition of fellow subsidiaries 
property portfolios in England.

The goal is to build up property operations 
in Canada and UK which are as safe and 
profitable as the operations in Sweden and 
Germany.

The restructuring has also brought the Parent 
Company, Akelius Fastigheter AB, to have 
transferred all directly-owned properties and 
participations in property-owning companies 
to the subsidiary Akelius Lägenheter AB 
during the year. The Parent Company’s oper-
ations are now focused on providing general 

group-wide functions such as financing 
activities, training via the Akelius University 
concept, StreamLine Production, IT support 
and administrative procedures, controlling 
and consolidated financial reporting.

In order to increase the capital base and 
thereby reduce the refinancing risk, unse-
cured bonds have been issued in Sweden 
and secured loans have been raised from 
seven new banks in Germany and Canada.

At the end of the year, the Group owned 
properties in Sweden, Germany and Canada 
with an estimated fair value of SEK 44,091 
million (35,437), of which 61 per cent refer 
to Sweden, 35 per cent to Germany and 4 
per cent to Canada.

Properties are located in attractive, popular 
locations in growing big cities. 76 per cent of 
the portfolio is located in greater Stockholm, 
the Gothenburg region, the Öresund region, 
Berlin, Hamburg and Toronto. The remainder 
of the properties are located in Swedish 
regional cities such as Halmstad, Umeå and 
Östersund and in large German cities such as 
Köln, Munich and Frankfurt.

The proportion of residential is high in 
keeping with company strategy. At the 
end of the year, the proportion of resi-
dential properties amounted to 95 per 
cent (95) measured by fair value. The total 
rentable area comprised 2,992,000 square 
metre (2,576,000). The residential holding 
amounted to 41,319 apartments (35,443), 
of which 23,867 apartments (21,707) are in 
Sweden, 15,769 (13,736) in Germany and 
1,683 (0) in Canada.
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20132012

2012
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CanadaGermanySweden

Rent Real
Country Apartments Potential Vacancy

Sweden 23,867 22% 0.6%
Germany 15,769 47% 0.9%
Canada 1,683 39% 1.7%
Total 41,319 - 0.7%

Upgrading of apartments to First Class and 
apartments in popular locations results in 
growth in revenues.

The new lease level in Sweden, Germany and 
Canada were on average 22, 47 respective 
39  per cent higher than the rent in the 
beginning of the year. 0.7 per cent of the 
apartments are not let or being upgraded.

Rental income, SEK million 
Comparable properties

Property values, SEK billion

Operating surplus, SEK million 
Comparable properties

Strong rental growth and cost control  
increases the operating surplus rapidly.

Apartments, potential and vacancy  
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Operating surplus SEK 1,579 million
Consolidated rental income for the year 
increased by SEK 245 million to SEK 3,025 
million (2,780). Of the increase in income, 
SEK 156 million is attributable to the 
net acquisition of an expanded property 
holding and SEK 89 million is attributable 
to increased rents in comparable properties. 
Adjusted for changes in exchange rates, 
rental income for comparable properties 
increased by 5.8 per cent compared to 
2012. The increased rental levels are due to 
upgrading to First Class and properties in 
attractive locations.

Average rent for comparable residential 
properties in Sweden increased during the 
year with 5.8 per cent. Average rent for new 
lets during 2013 was SEK 1,298 per square 
metre and year, which is 22 per cent higher 
than the average rent at the beginning of the 
year. At the end of the year, the average rent 
was SEK 1,114 per square metre and year.

Average cold rent for comparable residential 
properties in Germany increased by 5.6 per 
cent during the year. Average rent for new 
lets during the year was EUR 11.06 per 
square metre and month, which is 47 per 
cent higher than at the beginning of the 
year. At the end of the year, the average 
residential cold rent was EUR 7.80 per square 
metre and month.

At the end of the year the vacancy rate for 
residential was 2.6 per cent, of which 72 per 
cent was vacant due to apartment upgrades. 
The real vacancy rate was consequently 0.7 
per cent, which is unchanged compared to 
the vacancy rate 2012.

Property expenses amounted to SEK 1,446 
million (-1,371), of which SEK 303 million 
(288) was in respect of maintenance, corre-
sponding to an average annual expense of 
SEK 111 per square metre (110).

Net acquisitions of properties have increased 
the operating surplus with SEK 87 million. 
Rental growth and cost control have in-
creased the operating surplus for comparable 
properties with SEK 84 million or to 6.7 per 
cent. The operating surplus increased in total 

with SEK 171 million to SEK 1,579 million 
(1,408) during the year. The operating 
surplus margin was 52.2 per cent (50.6).

Increase in value of properties  
4.4 per cent
The net gain on revaluation of investment 
properties was SEK 1,569 million (2,671) for 
the year, equivalent to 4.4 per cent (8.3). The 
increase in value is due to increased rental 
income. Properties were sold during the year 
for a total of SEK 1,801 million, which is 10 
per cent above the estimated fair value at 
the beginning of the year.

Net financial items SEK -1,249 million
Income from financial items for the year was 
SEK 8 million (25) and financial expenses 
were SEK 1,257 million (1,185). Increased 
financial expenses is due to increased bor-
rowing in connection with net acquisitions 
of properties. The Group’s borrowings have 
increased with SEK 3,542 million during the 
year. The average interest rate for the total 
borrowings has decreased with 0.10 per cent 
which affected the financial expenses posi-
tively. The interest coverage ratio was 1.21 
(1.18).

Change in fair value of derivative 
financial instruments SEK 1,138 million
During the year financial derivative instru-
ments increased in value, primarily due to 
increased market interest rates, by SEK 1,138 
million (-184). The derivative financial instru-
ment portfolio consists mainly of interest 
swaps.
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Sweden Germany Canada Total

Opening 23,456 11,981 - 35,437

Exchange differences - 454 - 454

Change in value 815 728 25 1,569

Investments 964 568 - 1,531

Acquisitions 3,350 1,818 1,733 6,901

Sales -1,801 - - -1,801

Closing 26,784 15,549 1,758 44,091

Opening 4.73
Exchanges differences -

Acquisitions 0.03

Sales 0.00

Comparable -0.01

Closing 4.75

The fair value increased with 24 per cent during 
2013, whereof 4.4 per cent due to value growth.

The required yield increased with 
0.02 percentage points during 2013. 
Acquisitions increased the average 
required yield with 0.03 percentage 
points. The average required yield 
was decreased 0.01 percentage 
points for comparable properties. 

Fair value, SEK million Required yield, per cent
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Apartments in popular locations and up-
grading to First Class results in growth in 
rental income. The operating surplus margin 
increases when rental income increases in 
relation to the operating surplus.

During the year properties were acquired for 
a total of SEK 6,901 million.

Operating surplus margin, per cent Property acquisitions, SEK million
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Property acquisitions SEK 6,901 million

During the year, properties were acquired for a 
total of SEK 6,901 million, of which SEK 3,350 
million was for properties in Sweden, SEK 
1,818 million was for properties in Germany 
and SEK 1,733 million was for properties in 
Canada. The acquisitions in Sweden were made 
with an required yield of 5.3 per cent and for 
an average price of SEK 11,514 per square 
metre. The required yield for the acquisitions 
in Germany was 4.4 per cent and the average 
price per square metre was SEK 13,923. For the 
acquisitions in Canada, the required yield was 
4.5 per cent and the average price was SEK 
20,416 per square metre.

Property investments SEK 1,531 million
Investments in properties for the year totalled 
SEK 1,531 million (1,493), equivalent to 
SEK 558 per square metre. In conjunction 
with tenants moving out, apartments were 
upgraded to First Class, a quality equivalent 
to newly produced condominiums. First Class 
investments totalled SEK 906 million for the 
year.

Other investments of SEK 625 million in 
improved standards concerned the upgrad-
ing of entrances, stairwells, elevators, con-
version of commercial premises and attics to 
housing, densification of existing properties 
and water and energy saving projects.

Valuation of properties
The fair value of all properties was assessed 
by internal valuations by closing day. The 
valuations are based on a cash flow model 
for each individual property, with separate 
assessments of future earning ability and 
required rates of return. The cash flow model 
is based on actual income and expenses 
adjusted for a normalized future cash flow. 
In order to guarantee the valuations, CB 
Richard Ellis examines and verifies one third 
of the internally estimated values every year.

The average required yield for residentials 
was 4.65 per cent in Sweden, 4.56 per cent 
in Germany and 4.47 per cent in Canada. 

The average required yield for commercial 
properties was 6.98 per cent in Sweden, 
6.52 per cent in Germany and 6.50 per cent 
in Canada.

The average required yield for the entire 
property portfolio was 4.75 per cent, which 
is 0.02 percentage points higher than at 
the beginning of the year, primarily due to 
property acquisitions.

The estimated fair value of the Group’s 
property holding at the end of the year 
was SEK 44,091 million (35,437), which 
is equivalent to an average of SEK 14,736 
(13,755) per square metre. The fair value 
has increased by SEK 1,569 million, or 4.4 
per cent, as a result of changes in value and 
increased by SEK 454 million, or 1.3 per 
cent, owing to fluctuating exchange rates. 
The value increase of SEK 1,569 million is 
due to increased rental income. Changes 
in the property holding have increased its 
value by SEK 6,631 million. Acquisitions and 
investments for the year amounted to SEK 
8,432 million and property sales totalled SEK 
1,801 million.

Of the total fair value, SEK 26,784 million 
(23,456) was attributable to properties in 
Sweden, SEK 15,549 million (11,981) was 
attributable to properties in Germany and 
SEK 1,758 million (0) was attributable to 
properties in Canada. 

Loan-to-value 56 per cent
The Group’s borrowing increased during the 
year by SEK 3,542 million to a total of SEK 
25,521 million (21,979), primarily the result 
of the net acquisition of properties. The 
loan-to-value was 56 per cent (59). The loan-
to-value decreases when the borrowings 
decreases in relation to the total assets. 

Secured loans increased by SEK 2,813 million 
and, at the end of the year, totalled SEK 
22,472 million (19,659), corresponding to a 
loan-to-value of 49 per cent (53). The loan-
to-value has decreased due to high value 
growth in the property portfolio as a result 
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of upgrades to First Class. The secured loans 
have been raised from 25 banks in three 
countries, which means less dependency on 
the financial strength of each country or a 
single bank.

Unsecured loans, which encompass a listed 
debenture loan, borrowing from the public 
and loans from group companies, increased 
during the year to SEK 3,049 million (2,320). 
During the year, unsecured bonds were 
issued for a total of SEK 580 million. The 
debenture loan, which is listed on Nasdaq 
OMX Stockholm, totalled SEK 1,000 million 
(420) at the end of the year.

Liquidity SEK 1,597 million
At the end of the year available funds in 
the form of cash and secured but unutilized 
credit facilities totalled SEK 1,597 million 
(1,070). Another SEK 190 million of unuti-
lized credit facilities is usable when offering 
the lenders security. The non-mortgaged 
share of the properties’ fair value corre-
sponded to SEK 21,619 million at the end of 
the year.

Equity to assets ratio 33 per cent
During the year consolidated equity rose 
by SEK 2,426 million through the compre-
hensive income and by SEK 2,800 million 
through capital contributions and new share 
issues. During the year, consolidated equity 
increased by a total of SEK 5,199 million. The 
issues increased the Parent Company’s share 
capital by SEK 863 million to SEK 1,263 
million. At the end of the year, consolidated 
equity was SEK 15,169 million (9,970), 
equivalent to an equity to assets ratio of 33.3 
per cent (26.9).

Interest rate hedge 5.0 years
Of the SEK 25,521 million in total interest 
bearing debt, SEK 4,104 million (3,590) had 
a fixed-interest rate term of less than one 
year and SEK 10,325 million (10,306) had 
a fixed-interest rate term of more than five 
years. The loans had an average interest 
rate of 4.75 per cent (4.85) and an average 
interest rate hedge of 5.0 years (5.4).

Capital tied-up 4,6 years
The total interest bearing debt was on 
average tied up for 4.6 years (5.0). The loans 
that mature within one year amount to SEK 
3,123 million (3,381). The loans are raised 
from 25 banks, 30,000 private investors, the 
capital market and unsecured loans from 
companies within the Akelius Group.

Tax

The total tax for the year amounted to SEK 
677 million (88) whereof SEK 673 million 
(82) was deferred tax. The increase of 
deferred tax is mainly caused by a unrealized 
value increase in the property portfolio. 
Deferred tax is interest-free financing until 
the value increase is realized. 

Cash flow
The operating activities had a cash flow of 
SEK 318 million (-2). The improvement is 
mainly caused by a increased  operating 
surplus and a decrease in other costs.

The net cash from financing activities was 
SEK -6,570 million (-933), a result of Akelius 
reinvesting profits in the operation. The 
investing operations consists of property 
transactions and investments in current 
properties. The cash flow from acquisitions 
of properties is secured before signing of 
acquisition agreements. Profitable and non 
mandatory upgrades to First Class can, if 
needed, be stopped within a three-month 
period, whereafter the cash flow before 
financing activities turns out positive.

The cash flow from the financing activities 
was SEK 6,283 million (-933). During the 
year Akelius Apartments Ltd has contributed 
equity amounting to SEK 2,800 million (0). 
In total the cash flow amounted to SEK 31 
million (-2).

Risks and contingencies
The operational risks are limited through the 
property portfolio being concentrated to 
residential properties in locations with pop-
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ulation growth. A strong residential market 
in Sweden, Germany and Canada reduces 
the risk for long-term vacancies. In order to 
further reduce the risk, or variations in the 
cash flow, interest rates are fixed long-term.
Access to capital from a large number of 
investors, through the capital market and 
from private individuals provides a low 
refinancing risk. Overseas investments are 
currency-hedged so that the Group’s equity 
to assets ratio is not affected by exchange 
rate fluctuations. Risks and contingencies are 
being described more thorough in note 3. 

Corporate governance
Corporate governance in Swedish limited 
companies is regulated by the Swedish 
Companies Act  and The Annual Accounts 
Act. The general mandate from the owner 
is to provide a high return with long-term 
stability. Ensuring this requires good cor-
porate governance with clear divisions of 
responsibility between the owner, the board 
and management.

Articles of Association
The Company’s trade name is Akelius Fas-
tigheter AB and the Company’s registered 
office is in Danderyd. The Company is a 
public limited company. The Company shall 
own and manage properties and pursue 
other closely related activities.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the share-
holders is the Company’s highest deci-
sion-making body through which the share-
holders’ right to decide on the Company’s 
business is exercised. The Annual General 
Meeting makes decisions on changes to the 
Articles of Association and changes to equity. 
The Annual General Meeting appoints the 
Board and the Company’s auditors. Extraordi-
nary meetings of the shareholders are held at 
the owner’s request or if the board considers 
it necessary. 

At the Annual General Meeting of 25 April 
2013, the accounts for 2012 were adopted 
and the Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer  were discharged from 
liability for the 2012 financial year. Further, 
the Annual General Meeting decided that 
no dividend should be distributed to the 
shareholder and that the Board until the time 
of the next Annual General Meeting should 
comprise five ordinary members. The Annual 
General Meeting appointed two auditors.

At the extraordinary meeting of 25 October 
2013, the meeting authorised the Board to 
decide on the issue of 35,700 new shares. 
The meeting also decided to authorise the 
Board to decide to increase the Company’s 
equity by SEK 680 million via a bonus issue.

At the extraordinary meeting of 22 
December, the meeting authorised the Board 
to decide on the issue of 32,000 new shares.

Board of Directors
The Board is appointed by the Annual 
General Meeting and shall, in accordance 
with the Articles of Association, comprise at 
least three and no more than five members. 
The Board’s mandate period runs until the 
end of the first Annual General Meeting held 
the year after the members were appointed. 
In 2013, the Board had five members.

The Board’s general mandate is responsibility 
for the organisation and administration of 
operations and for financial reporting. The 
Board is also responsible for establishing 
systems for governance, internal control 
and risk management. The Board’s work 
and responsibilities, and its division from the 
work and responsibilities of the Chief Exe- 
cutive Officer, are regulated by the Rules of 
Procedure and the instructions for the Chief 
Executive Officer that are established at the 
organisation meeting held directly after the 
annual general meeting.

The Board held 15 meetings in 2013. The 
board meetings dealt with matters of consid-
erable importance to the company such as 
the establishment of business plans for the 
coming financial year, the finance policy and 
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policies for governing operations and internal 
control, Rules of Procedure for the Board 
and instructions for the Chief Executive 
Officer, acquisitions and sales of properties 
and financing issues. Further, the Board 
was informed about the prevailing business 
climate in the property and credit markets.

Chief Executive Officer and 
management
The board appoints the Chief Executive 
Officer and each year establishes instructions 
regulating the divisions of work and respon-
sibility between the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer 
is responsible for continuing operations and 
financial reporting and shall regularly report 
to the Board on the company’s development 
in relation to the established governing 
documents. 

Operations are organised into three units, 
one for each country. To support the or-
ganisation, there are also central units for 
accounting, controlling, finance, IT, pur-
chasing and training. Group management 
encompasses ten persons including the Chief 
Executive Officer.

External auditing
According to the Articles of Association, the 
Annual General Meeting shall appoint at 
least one but no more than two auditors. 
The appointed auditors audit the annual 
accounts, the consolidated accounts, the 
subsidiaries’ annual accounts and the admin-
istration of the Chief Executive Officer. The 
Annual General Meeting has appointed two 
auditors for the 2013 financial year.

Governance and control
The planning, governance and control of 
operations follows the organisation struc-
ture with clear delegations of responsibility 
and authority. Business plans are prepared 
for the Group as a whole and for the units 
that fall under the Chief Executive Officer. 
The business plans, together with policies, 

guidelines and instructions, comprise a 
framework for the governance and control 
of operations. In order to ensure that the fi-
nancial reports provide a fair picture on each 
occasion, developments in operations are 
followed up in relation to this framework. 
Regular follow-ups together with close col-
laboration with the Company’s auditors and 
the control and follow-ups conducted in the 
annual audits are assessed to be sufficient 
for the Board’s evaluation and for effective 
internal control and risk management. As 
such, at present the need for an internal 
auditing unit is considered unnecessary.

The environment
Akelius Fastigheter does not pursue any 
operations that require permits or registra-
tion in accordance with Chapter 9, 6 § of the 
Swedish Environmental Code.

Parent Company
During the year, the Parent Company has 
streamlined its operations to only encompass 
group-wide functions. All directly-owned 
properties have been transferred to subsidi-
aries. Profit for the year was SEK 477 million 
(0). New share issues, issues in kind and 
capital contributions increased equity by a 
combined total of SEK 2,800 million. Consol-
idated equity at the end of the year was SEK 
7,022 million (3,745).

Important events since the end of the 
reported year
In March 2014, residential properties were 
acquired in England from fellow subsidiaries 
for SEK 2 billion. The Board of Directors 
resolved to propose the Annual General 
Meeting to decide on a directed issue issue 
of ordinary shares amounting to SEK 2 billion, 
where existing shareholders’ preferential 
rights are by-passed.

The Board of Directors intends to suggest 
to the shareholders to decide on an issue of 
preference shares on the General Meeting.
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Proposed appropriation of profits
The Annual General Meeting has at its 
disposal in the Parent Company profit 
brought forward amounting to SEK 
5,184,030,400, profit for the year amount-
ing to SEK 476,477,344, totally SEK 
5,660,507,744. The Board of Directors and 
the Chief Executive Officer propose that SEK 
1,000,000,000 is disbursed to the sharehold-
er and that SEK 4,660,507,744 be carried 
forward. The dividend is equivalent to SEK 
2,138 per share.

Board statement on the proposed 
dividend
The Group and the Parent Company have 
good liquidity and following the proposed 
dividend the equity to assets ratios of the 
Group and the Parent Company will be 31.7 
per cent and 44.6 per cent respectively.

In the Board’s assessment, which takes 
into account liquidity needs, the proposed 
business plan, investment plans and ability 
to raise long-term credit, there are no indica-
tions that the Group or the Parent Company 
will have insufficient equity following the 
proposed dividend. The Board hereby finds 
the proposed dividend justifiable with 
regards to Chapter 17, 3§ of the Swedish 
Companies Act.
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Amount in SEK m 2013 2012 Note
    
Rental income 3,025 2,780 6
Property costs -1,446 -1,371 7
Operating surplus 1,579 1,409  
  
Administration expenses -55 -47 9,10
Other income and costs -85 -160 8
Net gain on revaluation of investment property 1,569 2,670 11
Operating profit 3,008 3,872  
  
Finance income 8 27 13
Finance expenses -1,257 -1,187 14
Change in fair value of derivatives 1,138 -184
Profit before tax 2,897 2,528  
  
Tax -677 -88 16
Profit for the year 2,220 2,440  

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 2,216 2,435
Non-controlling interest 4 5

Consolidated income statement

Notes on page 59 to 97 form part of these consolidated and parent company´s financial 
statements.
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Amount in SEK m 2013 2012  Note
    
Profit for the year 2,220 2,440  
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss:
Currency translation differences 206 -158
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,426 2,282  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 2,422 2,277  
Non-controlling interest 4 5  

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

Notes on page 59 to 97 form part of these consolidated and parent company´s financial 
statements.
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Amounts in SEK m 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012 Note
    
Assets 28, 29
Non-current assets
Investment property 44,091 35,437 17
Owner-occupied property 13 19 18
Equipment 18 14 19
Deferred income tax assets 663 721 21
Derivative financial instruments 100 206 25
Trade and other receivables 204 207 22
Total non-current assets 45,089 36,604  
  
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 544 416 22
Derivative financial instruments - 20 25
Cash and cash equivalents 59 28 23
Total current assets 603 464  
  
Total assets 45,692 37,068  

Consolidated statement of financial position

Notes on page 59 to 97 form part of these consolidated and parent company´s financial 
statements.
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Amounts in SEK m 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012 Note
    
Equity and liabilities 28, 29 
Equity attributable to parent company´s 
shareholder
Ordinary share 1,263 400
Share premium 1,937 -
Currency translation reserve 42 -164
Retained earnings 11,896 9,707  
Total equity capital attributable to parent 
company´s shareholder 15,138 9,943

Non-controlling interest 31 27
Total equity 15,169 9,970
 
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 22,398 18,598 24
Derivative financial instruments 1,496 2,505 25
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,695 2,028 26
Trade and other payables 25 101 27
Total non-current liabilities 26,614 23,232
  
Current liabilities
Current liabilities 762 478 27
Borrowings 3,123 3,381 24
Derivative financial instrument 24 7 25
Total current liabilities 3,909 3,866
 

Total equity and liabilities 45,692 37,068  

Consolidated statement of financial position

Notes on page 59 to 97 form part of these consolidated and parent company´s financial 
statements.
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Consolidated statement of change in equity

Attributable to parent company’s shareholder

None 
controlling 

interest

Amounts in SEK m
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

Total 
equity

Balance as at 31 December 2011 400 - -6 8,167 8,561 6 8,567

Dividend - - - -900 -900 - -900

Capital contribution - - - - - 21 21

Change in non-controlling interest - - - 5 5 -5 -

Profit for the year - - - 2,435 2,435 5 2,440

Other comprehensive income for the year - - -158 - -158 - -158

Balance as at 31 December 2012 400 - -164 9,707 9,943 27 9,970

Issue of ordinary shares 97 1,023 - - 1,120 - 1,120

Issue of ordinary shares, to be registered 86 914 - - 1,000 - 1,000

Bonus issue 680 - - -680 - - -

Capital contribution - - - 680 680 - 680

Group contribution - - - - -27 - -27

Profit for the year - - - 2,216 2,216 4 2,220

Other comprehensive income for the year - - 206 - 206 - 206

Balance as at 31 December 2013 1,263 1,937 42 11,896 15,138 31 15,169

Notes on page 59 to 97 form part of these consolidated and parent company´s financial 
statements.
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Amounts in SEK m 2013 2012
12 months 12 months

  
Cash generated from operations 1,570 1,208
Interest paid -1,249 -1,203
Income tax paid -3 -7
Net cash generated from operating activities 318 -2
 
Purchase of non-tangible fixed assets -21 -
Purchase of investment properties -8,432 -3,157
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 41 -63
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 1,765 2,328
Purchase of financial fixed assets - -41
Proceeds from sale of financial fixed assets 77 -
Net cash used in investing activities -6,570 -933
 
Proceeds from borrowings 9,361 9,585

Repayments of borrowings -6,122 -7,752
Purchase of derivative financial instruments 271 -
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 2,120 -
Proceeds from capital contribution 680 -
Paid dividend - -900
Group contribution -27 -
Net cash used in financing activities  6,283 933

Cash flow for the year 31 -2

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 28 30

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 59 28

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Attributable to parent company’s shareholder

None 
controlling 

interest

Amounts in SEK m
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Other 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

Total 
equity

Balance as at 31 December 2011 400 - -6 8,167 8,561 6 8,567

Dividend - - - -900 -900 - -900

Capital contribution - - - - - 21 21

Change in non-controlling interest - - - 5 5 -5 -

Profit for the year - - - 2,435 2,435 5 2,440

Other comprehensive income for the year - - -158 - -158 - -158

Balance as at 31 December 2012 400 - -164 9,707 9,943 27 9,970

Issue of ordinary shares 97 1,023 - - 1,120 - 1,120

Issue of ordinary shares, to be registered 86 914 - - 1,000 - 1,000

Bonus issue 680 - - -680 - - -

Capital contribution - - - 680 680 - 680

Group contribution - - - - -27 - -27

Profit for the year - - - 2,216 2,216 4 2,220

Other comprehensive income for the year - - 206 - 206 - 206

Balance as at 31 December 2013 1,263 1,937 42 11,896 15,138 31 15,169

Notes on page 59 to 97 form part of these consolidated and parent company´s financial 
statements.
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Amounts in SEK m 2013 2012 Note
12 months 12 months

   
Rental income 51 49 6
Property costs -24 -21 7
Operating surplus 27 28  
  
Depreciations, write-downs and reversals of 
fixed assets -2 -2 8, 17, 19
Gross profit 25 26  
  
Administration expenses -116 -88 9,10
Other income 61 40 8
Profit from sales of properties 76 -
Operating profit 46 -22  
  
Profit from shares in subsidiaries 498 726 12
Finance income 656 505 13
Finance expenses -964 -877 14
Change in fair value of derivatives 253 -236
Profit before appropriations 489 96  
 
Appropriations -106 -233 15
Profit before tax 383 -137

Tax 94 137 16
Profit for the year 477 0  

Comprehensive income 477 0

Statement of comprehensive income for the parent 
company
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Amounts in SEK m 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012 Note
  

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment property - 270 17
Equipment - - 19
Total tangible fixed assets - 270  
  
Shares in subsidiaries 10,806 9,567 20
Receivable from group companies 3,262 - 22
Deferred income tax assets 240 153 21
Total financial fixed assets 14,308 9,720
Total non-current assets 14,308 9,990  
  
Current assets
Accounts receivables - 1 22
Receivables from group companies 82 1,223 22
Other current receivables 2 5
Prepaid cost and accrued income 6 10
Cash and cash equivalents 1 1 23
Total current assets 91 1,240
 
Total assets 14,399 11,230
 

Statement of financial position for the parent company
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Amounts in SEK m 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2012 Note

Equity and liabilities   
Equity attributable to parent company´s shareholder  
Share capital (467,700 shares) 1,263 400  
Statutory reserve 28 28  
Revaluation reserve 70 70  
Total restricted equity 1,361 498  
  
Retained earnings 3,247 3,247  
Share premium reserve 1,937 -
Profit for the year 477 -  
Total non-restricted equity 5,661 3,247  
  
Total equity 7,022 3,745
 
Provisions
Deferred income tax liabilities - 8 26
Total provisions - 8  
  
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 2,424 441 24

Borrowings from group companies 224 2,637 24
Derivative financial instruments 231 328 25
Trade and other payables - - 27
Total non-current liabilities 2,879 3,406
  
Current liabilities
Borrowings 16 527 24
Borrowings from group companies 4,454 3,487 24
Accounts payable 6 6
Other current liabilities - 2
Accrued cost and prepaid income 22 48
Total current liabilities 4,498 4,071
  
Total equity and liabilities 14,399 11,230  
  
Securities pledged none 348 28
Contingent obligations 19,385 18,539 29

Statement of financial position for the parent company
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Statement of change in equity for the parent company

Amounts in SEK m
Share 

capital
Statutory 

reserve
Revaluation 

reserve
Retained 
earnings

Share 
premium 

reserve
Total 

equity

Balance as at 1 January 2012 400 28 70 4,147 - 4,645
Dividend - - - -900 - -900

Profit for the year - - - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2012 400 28 70 3,247 - 3,745
      

Issue of ordinary shares 97 - - - 1,023 1,120

Issue of ordinary shares,  
to be registered

86 - - - 914 1,000

Bonus issue 680 - - -680 - -
Capital contribution - - - 680 - 680
Profit for the year - - - 477 - 477
Balance as at 31 December 2013 1,263 28 70 3,724 1,937 7,022
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Amounts in SEK m 2013 2012
12 months 12 months

Cash generated from operations -96 1,574
Financial net paid -329 -272
Net cash generated from operating activities -425 1,302

Purchase of tangible fixed assets -16 -21
Proceeds from sales of tangible fixed assets 361 -
Proceeds from investments in subsidiary 413 606
Purchase of subsidiaries -1,522 -1,376
Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries 261 -
Purchase of financial fixed assets -3,262 -
Proceeds from sale of financial fixed assets - 1,252
Net cash used in investing activities -3,765 461

Proceeds from borrowings 6,559 2,497
Repayments of borrowings -5,325 -3,363
Purchase of derivative financial instruments 156 -
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 2,120 -
Proceeds from capital injection 680 -
Paid dividend - -900
Net cash used in financing activities 4,190 -1,766

Cash flow for the year 0 -3

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1 4

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1 1

Statement of cash flows for the parent company
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Note 1 General information

Note 2 Summary of important accounting policies

Accounting policies and notes to the accounts

Akelius Fastigheter AB (publ), registered 
company number 556156-0383, is the 
Parent Company of the Akelius Fastigheter 
Group. Akelius Fastigheter AB has its reg-
istered office in Danderyd at the address 
Svärdvägen 3A, Box 184, 182 12 Danderyd, 
Sweden. All shares in Akelius Fastigheter AB 
are owned by Akelius Apartments Ltd, based 
in Cyprus.

The Group’s operations entail the long-term 
ownership, development and management 
of residential properties able to generate 
constantly growing cash flow. A growing 
cash flow is achieved by owning properties 
located in attractive locations in growing 

major cities. Low financial risk is achieved 
through low loan-to-value ratios, low fixed 
interest rates and low levels of capital tied 
up. At the end of the year, the Group owned 
properties in Canada, Germany and Sweden.

Operations in the Parent Company, Akelius 
Fastigheter AB, comprise group-wide func-
tions while assets comprise primarily shares 
and participations in property-owning sub-
sidiaries.

The annual accounts and the consolidated 
accounts have been approved by the Board 
on 8 April 2014 and will be presented to the 
Annual General Meeting on 14 April 2014 
for adoption.

The most important accounting policies 
applied in the preparation of these consol-
idated financial statements are presented 

below. These policies have been applied 
consistently for all years presented here, 
unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of 
the Akelius Fastigheter Group have been 
prepared in accordance with the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act, the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and 
IFRS IC interpretations as adopted by the EU, 
as well as the Swedish Financial Reporting 
Board’s recommendation RFR 1: Supple-
mentary Accounting Rules for Groups. The 
financial statements under the historical cost 
convention as modified by revaluation of 
investment property and financial assets and 
liabilities, including derivative financial in-
struments, at fair value through profit or loss 
and deferred tax, which is valued at nominal 
value.

The accounts of the Parent Company are 
prepared in accordance with the Swedish 

Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Finan-
cial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 
2: Accounting for Legal Entities. Cases where 
the Parent Company applies different ac-
counting policies to the Group are presented 
separately in section 2.18.

The Parent Company’s functional currency 
is Swedish kronor, SEK, which is also the 
reporting currency for both the Parent 
Company and the Group. Unless otherwise 
stated, all amounts are reported in SEK 
millions and concern the period 1 January 
to 31 December for income statement items 
and 31 December for balance sheet items.

Preparing reports in compliance with IFRS 
and generally accepted accounting policies 
requires the use of significant accounting 
estimates. Furthermore, management must 

Note 2.1 Basis for preparing the accounts
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Non-current assets and non-current liabilities 
comprise amounts that are expected to be 
recovered or paid more than twelve months 
after the balance sheet date. Current assets 

and current liabilities comprise amounts that 
are expected to be recovered or paid within 
twelve months of the balance sheet date.

Note 2.2 Classification

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies in which the 
Parent Company, either directly or indirectly, 
has a controlling influence and the right 
to determine financial and operational 
strategies. Subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements as of the 
day the controlling influence is transferred to 
the Group and are excluded from the con-
solidated financial statements as of the day 
the controlling influence ceases. Intragroup 
transactions, balance sheet items, income 
and expenses from transactions between 
group companies, are eliminated.

The subsidiaries are initially recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements using 

the acquisition method, which means that 
the subsidiaries’ equity, established as the 
difference between the fair values of the 
assets and liabilities, is completely eliminated. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
they arise.

Since the acquisition of subsidiaries does not 
concern the acquisition of operations but 
rather the acquisition of net assets in the 
shape of investment property, the acquisition 
cost is distributed between the acquired 
net assets in the acquisition analysis.  Note 
4 contains a more detailed description of 
Akelius Fastigheter’s delimitation between 
combinations and asset acquisitions.

Note 2.3 Consolidated financial statements

Operating segments are reported in accord-
ance with the internal reporting prepared for 
the most senior managing director. The most 
senior managing director is the function 
which is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing the results of the operating 
segments. 

Operations have been organised based on 
the geographic division between Sweden 

and Germany, which thereby comprise the 
two operating segments for which reports 
are prepared. No segment report is prepared 
for the third operating segment, Canada. 
As operations in Canada were acquired in 
December 2013, the segment comprises a 
very small part of the Group’s profit for the 
year.

Note 2.4 Segment reporting

make judgments in the application of the 
Group’s accounting policies. The areas which 
involve a high degree of judgment, which 
are complex or which are areas where as-
sumptions and estimates are of considerable 
significance to the consolidated accounts are 

presented in Note 4.

Standards, amendments and interpretations 
that came into effect during the year have 
not had any significant impact on the Group.

Note 2.1 Basis for preparing the accounts, continuation
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Functional currency and reporting currency
Items included in the financial statements for 
the different units in the Group are valued 
in the currency used in the economic envi-
ronment in which each company primarily 
operates, that is, the functional currency. 
The consolidated financial statements are 
reported in Swedish kronor, SEK, which is 
the Group’s reporting currency.

Transactions and balance sheet items
Transactions in foreign currencies are trans-
lated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rates that apply on the transac-
tion day or the day on which the items are 
revalued. Exchange gains and losses that 
arise in the payment of such transactions 
and in the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities held in foreign currencies 
at the balance sheet date exchange rate 
are reported under operating profit in the 
income statement. Exchange gains and losses 
attributable to loans and liquid assets are 
reported in the income statement as financial 
income or expenses. Exceptions are when 

the loans comprise hedges that fulfil the 
conditions for the hedge accounting of net 
investments, in which case gains and losses 
are reported under “Other comprehensive 
income”.

Translation of foreign group companies
The profit and financial position of all group 
companies with a functional currency other 
than the reporting currency are translated 
into the Group’s reporting currency as 
follows:

• The assets and liabilities in each balance 
sheet are translated at the balance 
sheet date exchange rate.

• The income and expenses in each 
income statement are translated at the 
average exchange rate.

• Exchange rate differences that arise 
during translation are reported under 
“Other comprehensive income”.

Note 2.5 Translation of foreign currencies

Note 2.6 Income and expenses

Rental income
Rental income is recognised in the period to 
which it relates. In the event a rental agree-
ment is terminated prematurely, the income 
is distributed over the original agreement 
period unless a new agreement is signed, in 
which case the amount is recognised in its 
entirety. 

Income from property sales
Income from property sales is recorded on 
the date of possession, unless this conflicts 
with any special terms of the purchase 
agreement.

Administration expenses
The Group’s expenses for administration are 
divided into property administration, which is 
included in the operating surplus, and central 
administration, which encompasses expenses 

at Group level such as expenses for Group 
management and financing.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income comprises interest income 
and interest subsidies while financial 
expenses comprise interest expenses and 
other expenses for borrowing. Expenses for 
the issuing of mortgage deeds are reported 
when incurred as a financial expense with 
the exception of the issuing of mortgage 
deeds in conjunction with an acquisition, in 
which case the expense is capitalised as a 
value-enhancing investment. Interest income 
and interest expenses are calculated using 
the effective interest rate method. Financial 
income and expenses are recorded in the 
period they concern.
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Note 2.8 Investment property

Investment property is held in order to 
generate rental income and increases in 
value. Investment property is initially recog-
nised at acquisition value, including directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, investment property is recog-
nised at fair value. Fair value is based in the 
first instance on prices on an active market 
and is the amount for which an asset could 
be transferred between initiated parties that 
are independent of one another and that 
have an interest in conducting the transac-
tion. In order to establish the fair value of 
investment property for the annual accounts, 
all properties are valued. Note 4 includes 

a more detailed description of the basis of 
Akelius’ valuation of investment property. 

Changes in the fair value of investment 
property are reported as changes in value in 
the income statement. Additional expenses 
are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the 
asset will fall to the Group and the expense 
can be established reliably and the action 
concerns the replacement of an existing or 
the introduction of a new identified compo-
nent. Repair and maintenance expenses are 
continually expensed in the periods in which 
they arise.

Note 2.9 Owner-occupied property, property, plant and equipment

Owner-occupied property, property, plant 
and equipment are recognised at acquisition 
value with deductions for depreciation. The 
acquisition value includes expenses that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. Owner-occupied property is reported 
as a component. Property, plant and equip-
ment are depreciated linearly throughout 

each asset’s estimated useful life. The 
useful life is assessed to correspond to the 
economic lifetime, which is why the residual 
value is not considered. The estimated useful 
life for corporate real estate is 33 years and 
that for property, plant and equipment is five 
years.

Note 2.7 Leases

Akelius as the lessee
Leases where a considerable share of the 
risks and benefits associated with ownership 
are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made throughout 
the term of the lease are charged to the 
income statement linearly throughout this 
period. The Group only holds leases classi-
fied as operating leases. The Group’s leases 
encompass cars and photocopiers.

Akelius as the lessor
Leases where essentially all risks and benefits 
associated with ownership fall to the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. As a conse-
quence, all of the Group’s rental agreements 
are classified as operating leases. Properties 
that are let under operating leases are 
included in the item investment property. 
The policy for reporting rental income is 
presented in section 2.6.
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Note 2.10 Impairment  

Note 2.11 Financial instruments

Note 2.11.1 Liquid assets

The asset is written down by the amount by 
which its book value exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the asset’s fair value reduced by 
sales expenses and its value in use. 

Investment property is recognised in the con-
solidated accounts at fair value through the 
income statement and as such is not covered 
by the above principle on impairment. 

Financial instruments recognised in the 
balance sheet comprise, among assets, liquid 
funds, accounts receivable and other receiva-
bles, and derivative instruments and, among 
liabilities, accounts payable and other liabili-
ties, loans and derivative instruments. Finan-
cial instruments are initially recognised at fair 

value plus transaction costs, with the excep-
tion of a financial asset or liability valued at 
fair value through the income statement. As 
such, the method of recognition depends 
on how the financial instrument has been 
classified below.

Liquid assets include cash, bank balances and 
other current investments maturing within 

three months of the acquisition date. Liquid 
assets are reported at nominal value.

Note 2.11.2 Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are amounts to be 
paid by customers for goods sold services 
performed in continuing operations. If 
payment is expected within one year, they 
are classified as current assets. If not, they 
are recorded as non-current assets.

Accounts receivable are initially recognised 
at fair value and thereafter at accrued acqui-
sition value using the effective interest rate 
method, less provision for impairment.

Note 2.11.3 Accounts payable and other liabilities

Accounts payable are obligations to pay for 
goods or services acquired in continuing 
operations from suppliers. Accounts payable 
and other current liabilities are recognized 

initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effec-
tive interest method.
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Note 2.11.4 Borrowing

Borrowing is initially recognised at fair value, 
net after transaction costs. Thereafter, 
borrowing is recognised at accrued acquisi-
tion value and any difference between the 
received amount, net after transaction costs, 
and the repayment amount reported in the 
income statement distributed over the term 
of the loan, using the effective interest rate 
method.

In accordance with the Group’s finance 
policy, exchange rate risks are to be limited 
by financing about 70 per cent of the cost 

of overseas investments in the local func-
tional currency. This is achieved in part by 
the overseas company raising loans and 
in part by another company in the Group 
raising loans in the functional currency to be 
hedged. The hedging of net investments in 
overseas operations is reported in a similar 
manner to cash flow hedges. The effective 
part of the exchange rate fluctuation is 
reported under “Other comprehensive 
income” and the ineffective part is reported 
as financial income or a financial expense in 
the income statement.

Note 2.11.5 Derivative instruments

Akelius Fastigheter uses derivatives in ac-
cordance with the Group’s finance policy to 
achieve the desired average fixed-interest 
term and interest risks. The Group does not 

apply hedge accounting. Derivative instru-
ments are reported in the balance sheet as of 
the contract date and are valued continuously 
at fair value through profit or loss.

Note 2.12 Employee benefits

For employees in Sweden, the ITP 2 defined 
benefit retirement and family occupational 
pension plan is secured with an insurance 
policy from Alecta. According to a state-
ment from the Swedish Financial Reporting 
Board, UFR 3 Classification of ITP Plans 
Financed by Insurance from Alecta, this is a 
defined benefit plan encompassing several 
employers. For the 2013 financial year, the 
Company has not had access to informa-
tion that would enable the reporting of its 
proportional share of the plan’s obligations, 

managed assets and expenses, which means 
it has not been possible to report the plan 
as a defined benefit plan. As such, the ITP 
2 pension plan secured with an insurance 
policy from Alecta is reported as a defined 
contribution plan.

The company’s obligations for pensions for 
employees in Germany are reported as a 
defined contribution plan.



Akelius Fastigheter AB (publ)
Annual Report 2013

65

Note 2.13 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year includes current 
and deferred tax. The current tax expense is 
calculated based on the tax regulations that 
as of the balance sheet date are adopted or 
for all intents and purposes adopted in the 
countries in which the Parent Company and 
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable 
income.

Deferred tax is reported, using the balance 
sheet liability method, for all temporary 
differences that arise between the values for 
tax purposes of assets and liabilities and their 
book values in the consolidated financial 
statement. However, the deferred tax is not 
reported if it arises due to a transaction that 
comprises the initial recognition of an asset 
or a liability that is not a business combina-

tion and that, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither profit nor taxable profit. 
Deferred income tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been decided or announced 
as per the balance sheet date and that are 
expected to apply when the concerned 
deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred 
tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assetss are reported to the 
extent it is probable that future taxable 
surpluses will be available, against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The utilisation of deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities takes place when the 
legal right to implement such offsetting 
exists.

Note 2.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group 
has an existing legal or informal obligation 
resulting from previous events, it is more 
probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation than not, 
and the amount has been calculated in a 
reliable manner.

Provisions are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to postpone payment of the liability until 
at least twelve months after the balance 
sheet date, in which case it is classified as a 
non-current liability.

Note 2.15 Statement of cash flows

The cash flow statement is prepared using 
the indirect method. This means that operat-
ing profit is adjusted for transactions that do 
not entail incoming or outgoing payments 

during the year and for any income and 
expenses attributable to cash flow from 
investing or financing activities.

Note 2.16 Related party disclosures

Regarding the Group’s related party trans-
actions, please see Note 10 regarding remu-

neration to senior executives and Note 30 
regarding other related party transactions.
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Note 2.17 New and amended standards applied by the Group

None of the IFRS or IFRIC interpretations 
that became mandatory for the first time for 
the financial year that began on 1 January 
2013 have had any significant impact on the 
Group.

New and amended standards that have 
been applied by the Group
Below are the standards which the Group 
applied for the first time for the financial year 
beginning 1 January 2013 and which have an 
impact on the Group’s financial statements:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
includes amendments concerning “Other 
comprehensive income”. The most impor-
tant change in the amended IAS 1 is the 
requirement for items reported under “Other 
comprehensive income” to be presented in 
two categories. The categories are based on 
whether the items may be reclassified to the 
income statement (reclassification adjust-
ments).

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement aims to 
ensure that measurements of fair value 
are more consistent and less complex by 
the standard providing an exact definition 
and a common source in IFRS for fair value 
measurements and associated disclosures. 
The standard provides guidance for fair value 
measurements for all types of assets and lia-
bilities, both financial and non-financial. The 
requirements do not extend the application 
areas for when fair value shall be applied but 
provide guidance on how it shall be applied 
in cases where other IFRSs already require or 
permit valuation at fair value.

New standards, amendments and in-
terpretations of existing standards that 
have not been applied by the Group in 
advance
A number of new standards and interpre-
tations came into effect for financial years 
beginning after 1 January 2013 and have 
not been applied in the preparation of this 
financial report.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements is 
based on the existing policies and identifies 
control as the determining factor in estab-
lishing whether a company shall be included 

in the consolidated accounts. The standard 
provides further guidance to help establish 
control when judgment is difficult to make. 
The Group intends to apply IFRS 10 as of the 
financial year beginning 1 January 2014 and 
has not yet evaluated its full effect on the 
Group’s financial statements.  

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities encompasses disclosure requirements 
for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associ-
ated companies and non-consolidated struc-
tured entities. The Group intends to apply 
IFRS 12 as of the financial year beginning 
1 January 2014 and has not yet evaluated 
its full effect on the Group’s financial state-
ments.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments manages the 
classification, valuation and accounting of 
financial assets and liabilities. IFRS 9 was 
issued in November 2010 for financial assets 
and in October 2011 for financial liabilities 
and replaces the sections of IAS 39 related 
to the classification and valuation of financial 
instruments. IFRS 9 states that financial assets 
shall be classified in two different catego-
ries: valuation at fair value and valuation at 
accrued acquisition value. Classification is 
established in the initial recognition based 
on the company’s business model and char-
acteristic properties of the contractual cash 
flows. For financial liabilities this entails no 
major changes compared to IAS 39. The 
largest change concerns liabilities that are 
identified at fair value. For these, the share 
of the actual change in value attributable to 
its inherent credit risk is to be reported under 
“Other comprehensive income” rather than 
profit, unless this causes inconsistency in the 
accounts (accounting mismatch). The Group 
has not yet evaluated the effects. The Group 
will evaluate the effects of the remaining 
phases as regards IFRS 9 once they are com-
pleted by the IASB.

IFRIC 21 Levies entails an interpretation of 
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. IAS 37 clarifies the criteria 
for reporting a liability, of which one criterion 
is that the company has an existing obli-
gation as a result of a previous event (also 
referred to as an obligating event). The inter-
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Note 2.17 New and amended standards applied by the Group, continuation

pretation clarifies that the obligating event 
which creates the obligation to report a liabil-
ity to pay a tax or a fee is the activity which 
in the applicable legislation is described as 
that which creates the obligation to pay the 
fee. The Group intends to apply IFRIC 21 
as of the financial year beginning 1 January 

2014 and has not yet evaluated its full effect 
on the Group’s financial statements.

None of the other IFRS or IFRIC interpre-
tations that are yet to come into force are 
expected to have any significant impact on 
the Group.

Note 2.18 The Parent Company’s accounting policies

The Parent Company applies the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act and RFR 2 Accounting 
for Legal Entities. The Parent Company 
applies different accounting policies to the 
Group in the cases below.

Forms of presentation
The income statement and the balance 
sheet are presented in accordance with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act. This entails 
differences compared to the consolidated 
accounts, primarily as regards financial 
income and expenses, comprehensive 
income, provisions and changes in equity. 
The presentation of some notes also differs 
compared to the consolidated accounts.

Participations in group companies
Participations in group companies are rec-
ognised at acquisition value with deductions 
for any impairment. The acquisition value 
includes acquisition-related costs and any 
additional purchase price. When there are 
indications that participations in group 
companies have decreased in value the 
recoverable amount is calculated. If this is 
lower than the book value the participation 

is impaired. Impairment is reported under 
the item “Profit from participations in group 
companies”. 

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are not recognised 
in accordance with IAS 39, Financial In-
struments: Recognition and Measurement. 
Instead, they are recognised using the 
acquisition method in accordance with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act. Derivative 
instruments held by the company primarily 
comprise interest rate swaps, which are used 
to hedge interest rate risk exposure. Interest 
rate differences that are to be received or 
paid as a result of interest rate swaps are 
reported under the item financial expenses 
and are distributed over the agreement 
period.

Group contributions
The company applies the Swedish Financial 
Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2: 
Accounting for Legal Entities. Provided and 
received group contributions are reported in 
the income statement. 
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Note 3 Calculating fair value

The fair value of a financial instrument 
traded on an active market is based on 
valuations using appropriate market data. 
The appropriate bid price is used for financial 
assets while the appropriate ask price is used 
financial liabilities. Fair value for derivative 
instruments is calculated as the current value 
of future cash flows. Fair value for financial 
liabilities is calculated by discounting the 
future contracted cash flows to the current 
market interest rate. For accounts receivable 
and accounts payable the nominal value less 
any reduction in value is assessed to corre-
spond to fair value. 

Calculating fair value
The valuation of financial instruments can be 
classified in different value levels depending 
on how the underlying data for judging fair 
value can be obtained.

Value levels
Level 1
Listed prices on active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities.

Level 2
Observable data for the asset or liability other 
than listed prices included in level 1.

Level 3 
Data for the asset or liability that is not based 
on observable market data.

Fair value for borrowings through listed 
bonds are report according to Level 1 and 
other borrowings are reported according to 
Level 2.

The fair value of interest rate swaps which 
are not traded on an active market is 
established using valuation methods. In 
such cases, the fair value is established by 
discounting the future cash flows to the 
current market interest rate for equivalent 
instruments. 

In the case of financial instruments such as 
accounts receivable and accounts payable for 
which observable market information is not 
available, the fair value is judged to agree 
with the book value since these instruments 
have short durations. The instruments are 
recognised at accrued acquisition value with 
deductions for any impairment.
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Note 3 Calculating fair value, continuation

Group 31 December 2013

Loans and 
receivables

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit or loss Total

Assets
Derivatives 100 - 100
Trade and other receivables - 748 748
Cash and cash equivalents - 59 59
Total 100 807 907

Liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Other financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Liabilities
Borrowings - 25,521 25,521
Derivative financial instruments 1,520 - 1,520
Trade and other payables - 787 787
Total 1,520 26,308 27,828

Financial instruments per value level



Akelius Fastigheter AB (publ)
Annual Report 2013

70

Group 31 December 2012

Loans and 
receivables

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit or loss Total

Assets
Derivatives 226 - 226
Trade and other receivables - 623 623
Cash and cash equivalents - 28 28
Total 226 651 877

Liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Other financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Liabilities
Borrowings - 21,979 21,979
Derivative financial instruments 2,512 - 2,512
Trade and other payables - 578 578
Total 2,512 22,557 25,069

Note 3 Calculating fair value, continuation
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Note 3.1 Financial risk management

Rental income
Akelius Fastigheter’s business concept entails 
the long-term ownership, development and 
management of residential properties able 
to generate constantly growing cash flow. 
The operational risk is limited by keeping 
the focus of the property portfolio on resi-
dential properties in locations experiencing 
population growth. Strong rental markets for 
housing in Sweden, Germany and Canada 
reduce the risk of long-term vacancies. 
Current rent levels enable future increases 
in rent and thereby increases in value. A 
one per cent change in rental income corre-
sponds to a change in income of SEK 30 m.

Fair value of properties
Investment property is recognised at fair 
value with change in value reported in the 
income statement. The value is affected by 
the development of the expected operating 
surplus and required rates of return. A 
change in expected rental income of +/- one 
per cent corresponds to a +/- SEK 790 m 
change in property value. If the required 
yield changes by an average of +/- 0.1 per 
cent, the fair value changes by SEK -847 m 
or SEK +883 m respectively. For fair value of 
investment properties reference is made to 
note 4.

Interest rate risk
In order to further reduce the risk, or fluctua-
tions in cash flow, interest rates are fixed for 
long durations. At the end of the financial 
year, 41 per cent (2012; 49 per cent) of real 
estate credit had a fixed-interest term of 
more than five years and 14 per cent (2012: 
12 per cent) had a fixed-interest term of 
less than one year. With consideration for 
the small proportion of loans with variable 
interest rates, a change in market interest 
rates has limited impact on profit. A one per 
cent change in market interest rates corre-
sponds to a change of SEK 32 m in interest 
expenses.

Fair value of derivative instruments
Interest derivatives are used to achieve the 
desired fixed interest rates. Developments in 
the value of the interest derivatives depend 
on how market interest rates develop in 
relation to the agreed interest rate and the 
remaining duration. At the end of the year, 
the undervalue of the derivative portfolio 
was SEK 1,420 m (2012: SEK 2,287 million). 
A parallel shift in the discount rate used to 
value the interest derivatives of one per cent 
would affect the value in the amount of SEK 
623 m. If the remaining duration is reduced 
by one year the value increases by SEK 290 m. 
Upon maturity, the fair value of a derivative 
agreement is completely dissolved and 
consequently the change in value over time 
has not affected equity.

Refinancing risk
The refinancing risk is reduced by real estate 
credit being raised from 25 different lenders 
and by mortgaging the property portfolio 
to only 51 per cent (2012: 55 per cent) of 
its fair value. Liquidity is secured by entering 
long-term credit facility agreements with 
several banks.

Currency exposure
Overseas investments shall be financed in the 
local currency so that the relation between 
net assets in the local currency and gross 
assets is on a level with the Group’s equity/
assets ratio. This means that exchange rate 
fluctuations do not affect the Group’s equity/
assets ratio. In terms of risk, low variations 
in the equity/assets ratio are more important 
than low variations in equity expressed in the 
Group’s functional currency, SEK. This policy 
means that equity expressed in SEK changes 
with exchange rate fluctuations. A change of 
+/- 10 per cent in the SEK/EUR exchange rate 
and the SEK/CAD exchange rate corresponds 
to a change in equity of SEK +/- 590 m. The 
equity/assets ratio changes by +/- 0.2 per 
cent. The equity/assets ratio changes because 
currency hedges from the turn of the year 
are not completely effective. 
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Liquidity risk, financial instrument durations
Duration

<1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years >5 years Total

Group 31 Dec 2013
Assets
Derivatives - 8 12 80 100

Liabilities
Borrowings 6,529 6,409 9,388 6,001 28,327
Derivatives 24 603 637 256 1,520
Accounts payables 199 - - - 199
Other payables 67 25 - - 92
Total 6,819 7,037 10,025 6,257 30,138

Group 31 Dec 2012
Assets
Derivatives 20 10 91 105 226

Liabilities
Borrowings 4,388 4,461 12,262 6,324 27,435
Derivatives 8 67 605 1,832 2,512
Accounts payables 172 - - - 172
Other payables 68 101 - - 169
Total 4,636 4,629 12,867 8,156 30,288

Note 3.1 Financial risk management, continuation
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Estimates and judgments are evaluated on a 
continuous basis from empirical factors and 
other aspects including anticipation of future 
events deemed reasonable under the prevail-
ing circumstances.

Significant accounting estimates and 
judgments
The preparation of the financial statements 
requires that the Board and group manage-
ment make estimates and certain assump-
tions. Estimates and assumptions affect the 
income statement, the balance sheet and 
disclosures such as those concerning contin-
gent liabilities. One areas that require signifi-
cant use of estimates and assumptions are fair 
value of properties. 

Fair value of properties
The fair value of each individual property is 
estimated each quarter. No portfolio premium 
is taken into account.

By far the most important information in 
making this estimation is data from the trans-
action market. In 2013, we received invita-
tions to buy 65,644 apartments. Following 
our evaluations, we submitted bids on 15,367 
apartments, eventually acquiring 6,289 
apartments in 45 transactions. The key ratios 
price per square metre, gross rent multiplier 
and required yield from the evaluations of 
those 65,644 apartments, and in particular 
the 15,367 for which we submitted indicative 
bids, comprise the basis of the fair value 
estimation.

In addition to the invitations to buy, we sold 
1,519 apartments in seven transactions during 
the year, all in Sweden. The realised prices 
in these sales provided valuable information 
about required yields and prices per square 
metre. The apartments were sold at prices 
which exceeded fair value at the beginning of 
the year by ten per cent.

The internal valuation – which is conducted 
by employees who also work with sales and 
acquisitions – has a strong focus on price per 
square metre, required yield and gross rent 
multiplier, since these are the only observable 
data from the transaction market. In the 
valuation model, the current operating surplus 
is perpetually capitalised with a required yield. 
Depending on the maintenance status, rent 
potential, vacancy rate and investment op-
portunities of a particular property, the cap-
italised value is adjusted such that the price 
per square metre, required yield or gross rent 
multiplier can be compared with the observed 
transactions. 

The most important parameter in the market’s 
valuation of housing is the required yield. In a 
theoretical model, in which future cash flows 
are discounted and totalled to a present value, 
the present value of the residual value, which 
is usually calculated by dividing the operat-
ing surplus by the required yield, normally 
amounts to between 70 and 85 per cent of 
the total present value in the case of a five-
year model. 

The required yield is determined by interest 
rates, risk premiums, the building’s location 
and housing supply and demand. Akelius Fas-
tigheter´s opinion is that the market’s required 
yield remained relatively constant throughout 
the year. We made only small adjustments to 
the required yield, -0.01 percentage points, 
for the Group’s comparable properties. 

In order to verify the internal valuation, we 
engage CBRE to value at least one third of the 
holding each year. In 2013, CBRE valued 35 
per cent of the number of apartments, cor-
responding to 34 per cent of fair value. Their 
estimate was SEK 39 m, or 0.3 per cent, more 
than our internal valuation.

Note 4 Estimates and judgments
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Value per 
square metre Value per apartment Required yield

Gross rent 
multiplier

Sweden SEK 14,115 - 4.84% -
Germany SEK 15,398 - 4.64% 17.9
Canada SEK 20,710 SEK 1,044,563 4.47% -
Total  SEK 14,736 - 4.75% -

             Fair value, SEK m       Deviation

Apartments CBRE Akelius Amount Per cent
Sweden 8,873 10,275 10,275 0 0.0
Germany 5,050 4,411 4,372 39 0.9
Canada 410 410 410 0 0.0
Total 14,333 15,096 15,057 39 0.3

Fair value at year-end 44,091 Apartments at year-end    41,319
Share valued externally     34% Share valued externally         35%

Sweden Germany Canada Group
Opening 4.79 4.64 4.52 4.73
Exchange rate fluctuations - - - 0.00
Acquisitions 0.06 0.00 -0.05 0.03
Sales 0.00 - - 0.00
Comparable -0.01 0.00 0.00 -0.01
Closing 4.84 4.64 4.47 4.75

Required yield, %

Transactions

External valuation

Key ratios – fair value

Sweden Germany Canada Group
Invitations to buy 8,603 43,307 13,734 65,644
Indicative bids 4,813 8,230 2,324 15,367
-Number of indicative bids 11 135 22 168
Completed acquisitions 3,680 1,973 636 6,289
-Number of transactions 2 35 8 45

Note 4 Estimates and judgments, continuation
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Sweden Germany Canada Group
+ 0.1 percentage points -502 -308 -37 -847
- 0.1 percentage points 523 322 38 883

Required Yield

Should the market’s required yield change, 
with everything else remaining the same, fair 
value is affected as shown in the table below:

The estimated fair value of the Group’s 
property holding at the end of the year was 
SEK 44,091 m (35,437), which is equivalent 
to an average of SEK 14,736 (13,755) per 
square metre. The fair value has increased 
by SEK 1,569 m, or 4.4 per cent, as a result 
of changes in value and increased by SEK 
454 m, or 1.3 per cent, owing to fluctuating 
exchange rates. The value increase of SEK 
1,569 m is due to increased rental income. 
Changes in the property holding have 
increased its value by SEK 6,631 m. Acquisi-
tions and investments for the year amounted 

to SEK 8,432 m and property sales totalled 
SEK 1,801 m.

Of the total fair value, SEK 26,784 m 
(23,456) was attributable to properties in 
Sweden, SEK 15,549 m (11,981) was attrib-
utable to properties in Germany and SEK 
1,758 m (0) was attributable to properties in 
Canada. 

Housing constitutes 95 per cent of the fair 
value, which is in line with the company 
strategy of housing comprising a minimum 
of 90 per cent.

Business combinations contra asset acquisitions   

When a company is acquired the acquisition 
comprises either the acquisition of a business 
or the acquisition of assets. The acquisition 
is classed as the acquisition of assets if 
the acquisition concerns property, with or 

without rental agreements, and does not 
otherwise provide the Group with unique 
expertise. Other acquisitions are business 
combinations.

    Sweden      Germany     Canada        Total
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Opening value 23,457 22,574 11,980 9,778 - - 35,437 32,352
Currency conversion - - 454 -358 - - 454 -358
Investments 963  1,084 568 409 - - 1,531 1,493
Change in value 815 1,970 729 700 25 - 1,569 2,670
Acquisitions 3 ,350 212 1,818 1,451 1,733 - 6,901 1,663
Sales -1,801 -2,383 - - - - -1,801 -2,383
Closing value 26,784 23,457 15,549 11,980 1,758 - 44,091 35,437

Investment property

Note 4 Estimates and judgments, continuation
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The division into segments comprises the 
geographic areas Sweden, Germany and 
Canada, which corresponds to the internal 
reporting structure. The division of respon-
sibility for financial performance between 
segments also includes operating surplus 
and the change in fair value for investment 
property. Investment properties are divided 
by segment in balance sheet items.

Operations in Canada were acquired from 
the Parent Company, Akelius Apartments 
Ltd, at the end of December 2013, and 
as such the Canadian operations have not 
affected the Group’s operating surplus. 

Note 5 Segment reporting – Group

    Sweden     Germany     Canada        Total
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Rental income 2,038 1,899 987 881 - - 3,025 2,780
Usage bonds cost -385 -378 -148 -144 - - -533 -522
Operating costs -210 -194 -101 -105 - - -311 -299
Maintenance -231 -200 -72 -87 - - -303 -287
Site leasehold fee -4 -4 0 0 - - -4 -4
Property tax -42 -42 -24 -23 - - -66 -65
Administration -148 -117 -81 -77 - - -229 -194
Operating surplus 1,018 964 561 445 - - 1,579 1,409

Change in fair value 815 1,970 729 700 25 - 1,569 2,670
Total return 1,833 2,934 1,290 1,146 25 - 3,148 4,079

Income statement
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Note 6 Rental income

          Group         Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Residential income 2,670 2,443 48 46
Premises income 270 268 1 2
Other rental income 55 51 2 1
Other income 30 18 - -
Total 3,025 2,780 51 49

Change in rental income
        Group

2013 2012
Rental income previous year 2,780 2,595
Comparable properties 85 68
Acquisition 314 285

Sold -154 -168
Total 3,025 2,780

Rent flow, premises
        Group
2013 2012

Due-by within 1 year 17 34
Later then 1 year but within 5 years 172 118
Later then 5 years 50 45
Total 239 197

All of Akelius´ lease contracts are classified 
as operational lease contract.
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Note 8 Other income and costs

          Group        Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Income from group companies 3 3 55 35
Other income 5 15 6 5
Loss on business combination -25 -12 - -
Disposal tangible assets 1 -2 - -
Cost sale of properties -37 -56 - -
Writing-down goodwill -21 - - -
Writing-down owner-occupied property - -95 - -
Depreciation owner-occupied property -6 -7 - -
Depreciation investment properties - - -2 -2
Depreciation office equipment -5 -6 - -
Total -85 -160 59 38

The Parent Company reports no purchases 
from group companies.

Corporate real estate is depreciated linearly 
by 3.0 per cent of the buildings’ acquisition 
value. Land improvements are depreciated 

by 5.0 per cent of the acquisition value while 
property, plant and equipment are depreci-
ated by 20 per cent of the acquisition value. 
In the Parent Company, investment property 
is depreciated by 0.75 per cent of the build-
ings’ acquisition value.

          Group        Parent company

2013 2012 2013 2012
Usage bonds costs -533 -522 -10 -9
Operating expenses -311 -298 -5 -4
Maintenance costs -303 -288 -5 -5
Property tax -66 -66 -1 -1
Site leasehold fee -4 -4 - -
Property administration -229 -193 -3 -2
Total -1,446 -1,371 -24 -21

Note 7 Property costs

Regarding personnel costs included in 
administration costs refer to note 10.
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Note 9 Audit costs

           Group        Parent company
PwC 2013 2012 2013 2012
Audit 4 5 - -
Audit in addition to ordinary assignment 1 - - -
Tax advice 4 2 2 1
Other assignments 1 2 1 2
Total 10 9 3 3

  Group        Parent company
Average number of employees 2013 2012 2013 2012
Women 109 106 26 30
Men 112 107 22 17
Total 221 213 48 47

Average number of employees per country
Sweden 139 152
of which women 70 78
Germany 82 61
of which women 39 28

   Group        Parent company
Wages, other payments and social costs 2013 2012 2013 2012

Board and senior management 14 10 9 7
Other employees 91 103 20 25
Total wages and other payments 105 113 29 32
Pension costs 26 9 21 5
Social costs 31 30 12 13
Total 162 153 62 50

Note 10 Employees – costs and benfits
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Other senior management comprises nine 
employees of which one women. Salaries 
and other remuneration to the Managing 
Director and other senior executives only 
comprise fixed salaries paid during 2013.  
Board fees to the chair and the members 
are paid in accordance with the decision of 
the Annual General Meeting, which among 
other things means that a member who is 
employed by the Akelius Group receives 
no board fee. Board members are able to 
invoice their fees via a company and in such 
cases have the right to invoice, in addition 
to the fixed fee, the corresponding social 
security contributions and VAT, as long as 

this is cost-neutral for the Company. Remu-
neration to the board refers to the yearly 
fees decided by the AGM. No variable remu-
neration or bonuses have been paid.

Agreements on severance pay with senior 
executives
Agreements on severance pay have been 
entered with the Managing Director and four 
other senior executives amounting to six to 
twelve months’ salary if notice is served by 
the company. Notice from the executives is 
three to six months. Agreement regarding 
loyalty bonus has been entered with the 
Managing Director, which is due 2014.

Group - 2013

Wages 
and other 
payments

Pension 
costs

Social 
costs Total

Chair; Leif Norburg 0.3 - - 0.3
Director; Anders Janson 0.1 - - 0.1
Director; Igor Rogulj 0.1 - - 0.1
Managing Director; Pål Ahlsén 1.9 0.3 0.7 2.9
Other senior management 12.2 19.0 5.8 37.0
Total 14.6 19.3 6.5 40.4

Group - 2012

Wages 
and other 
payments

Pension 
costs

Social 
costs Total

Chair; Leif Norburg 0.1 - - 0.1
Director; Anders Janson 0.1 - - 0.1
Director; Igor Rogulj 0.1 - - 0.1
Managing Director; Pål Ahlsén 2.1 0.3 0.8 3.2
Other senior management 4.7 1.5 2.1 8.3
Total 7.1 1.8 2.9 11.8

Note 10 Employees – costs and benfits, continuation
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         Group

2013 2012

Realised revaluation 153 151
Unrealised revaluation 1,416 2,519
Total 1,569 2,670

         Parent company

2013 2012

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 761 196
Carrying amount sold shares -261 -179
Writing-down shares in subsidiaries -22 -113
Proceeds from dividend 20 822
Total 498 726

Note 11 Revaluation of Investment properties

Note 12 Profit from shares in subsidiary

Note 13 Finance income

Regarding unrealised changes in value, 
reference is made to note 4 Estimates and 
judgments.

         Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Interest income 4 3 - 1
Interest income group companies 4 21 606 504
Currency exchange rate difference - - 50 -
Other financial income - 3 - -
Total 8 27 656 505

   

Note 14 Finance expenses

        Group        Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Interest expenses -1,008 -930 -139 -59
Interest expenses group companies -195 -211 -816 -753
Costs deposit operations -6 -6 - -
Other financial costs -48 -40 -9 -65
Total -1,257 -1,187 -964 -877
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Note 15  Appropriations

Note 16 Tax

        Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Group contribution -27 - -106 -233
Total -27 - -106 -233

         Group         Parent company
Tax on profit for the year 2013 2012 2013 2012

Current tax -4 -6 -1 -
Deferred tax -673 -82 95 137
Total -677 -88 94 137

    Group         Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Accounted profit before tax 2,897 2,528 382 -137

Tax according to current tax rates -620 -695 -84 36
Revaluation of investment property 425 663 - -
Revaluation of derivative 209 -48 51 -62
Tax effect on non-taxable income and 
non-deductible costs net -18 75 32 25
Changed tax rates on temporary differences -144 300 - 14
Tax on sold temporary differences 63 55 8 -
Change in temporary differences -592 -437 87 123
Total -677 -88 94 137
Effective tax rate, per cent 23.6% 3.5% - -

Difference between accounted tax cost and tax cost based on current tax rates

Tax rates
The account tax is bases in the following tax 
rates: 22.0 per cent (26.3) in Swedish com-
panies, 30.175 per cent (2012: 15.825  

per cent) in German companies and 25 per 
cent in Canadian companies.
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         Group
Fair value 2013 2012

Opening balance 35,437 32,352
Currency exchange rates difference 454 -358
Investments 1,531 1,493
Acquisitions 6,901 1,663
Disposal by sale -1,801 -2,383
Change in value 1,569 2,670
Closing balance 44,091 35,437

Note 17 Investment properties

         Group
2013 2012

Opening net book amount 19 120
Depreciation -6 -7
Investments - 1
Write-down - -95
Closing net book amount 13 19

Acquisitions 144 144
Accumulated depreciation -31 -25
Accumulated write-downs -100 -100
Net book amount 13 19

Note 18 Owner-occupied properties

Note 19 Equipment

         Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Opening net book amount 14 17 - -
Investments 9 5 - -
Disposal through sale - -2 - -
Depreciation -5 -6 - -
Reclassification 6 - - -
Closing net book amount 18 14 - -

Acquisitions 29 20 2 2
Accumulated depreciation -11 -6 -2 -2
Net book amount 18 14 - -
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          Parent company

2013 2012

Opening balance 9,567 9,555
Acquisition 145 117
Disposal through sale -261 -1,358
Capital contribution 1,377 1,360
Write-downs -22 -107
Closing balance 10,806 9,567

Note 20 Shares in subsidiaries

Shares in subsidiaries

Company Indentity No Domicile Share Shares

Net 
book 

amount

Akelius Fastigheter Ödlan i Helsingborg AB 556644-7727 Danderyd 100% 100 -

Akelius GmbH - Berlin 94.9% - 3,633

Akelius Holding AB 556705-7673 Danderyd 100% 1,000 -

Akelius Hotell och Fastigheter AB 556650-2414 Danderyd 100% 5,000 -

Akelius Kanada AB 556709-6564 Danderyd 100% 1,000 145

Akelius Lgh Kullen Västra 58 AB 556661-3823 Danderyd 100% 1,000 -

Akelius Lots GmbH & CoKG - Berlin 94.9% - 130

Akelius Lägenheter AB 556549-6360 Stockholm 100% 20,541,962 5,693

Akelius Lägenheter Krokodilen 11 AB 556709-3363 Danderyd 100% 1,000 -

Akelius Lönnlöven AB 556878-6502 Danderyd 100% 1,000 1,100

Akelius Spar AB (publ) 556618-8123 Gothenburg 100% 10,000 105

Akelius Lärjungen Lägenheter 40 AB 556876-5498 Danderyd 100% 1,000 -

Closing net book amount   10,806
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Note 21 Deferred tax receivables

          Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Opening receivables 721 569 153 14
Profit/loss affecting items -84 152 87 139
Added receivables 12 - - -
Reclassification 14 - - -
Total 663 721 240 153

Deficit deductions 321 218 189 153
Derivative 342 503 51 -
Total 663 721 240 153

Deferred tax receivables for the Group 
regarding deficit deduction corresponds to 
SEK 1,364 million (2012: SEK 989 million) in 
deficit deduction. Deferred tax receivables 

for the Parent company regarding deficit 
deduction corresponds to SEK 858 million 
(2012: SEK 693 million).
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   Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Receivables from group companies 7 - 3,262 -
Promissory notes 79 - - -
Pledge bank accounts 116 198 - -
Other non-current receivables 2 9 - -
Non-current receivables 204 207 3,262 -

Accounts receivables 61 34 - 1
Prepayments 260 199 - -
Receivables form group companies 2 - 82 1,223
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 172 47 6 10
Other current receivables 49 35 2 5
Current receivables 544 416 90 1,239

Total trade and other receivables 748 623 3,352 1,239

 Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Bank deposits 59 28 1 1
Total 59 28 1 1

The book value of accounts receivable and 
other receivables is assessed to agree with 
the fair value since the credit periods are 
short. Accounts receivable are primarily 
attributable to residential tenants. The risk of 
bad debt losses is assessed to be small and as 
such no reservation for bad debts has been 

made. Accounts receivable are written down 
once a loss has been confirmed. Receivables 
from group companies are attributable 
to current accounts between the Parent 
Company and sister companies. Intragroup 
loans are subject to market terms. These 
loans are provided without collateral.

Note 22 Trade and other receivables

Note 23 Cash and cash equivalents

Change in liquid assets is presented in the cash flow statements.
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Note 24 Borrowings

          Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Non-current borrowings
External borrowings against security 19,430 15,331 1,412 21
External borrowings without security 2,348 420 1,012 420
Internal borrowings against security 495 1,709 99 -
Internal borrowings without security 125 1,138 125 2,637
Total 22,398 18,598 2,648 3,078

Current borrowings
External borrowings against security 1,047 2,619 16 483
External borrowings without security 476 462 - 44
Internal borrowings against security 1,500 - 1,500 -
Internal borrowings without security 100 300 2,954 3,487
Total 3,123 3,381 4,470 4,014
Total borrowings 25,521 21,979 7,118 7,092

Borrowings against security 22,472 19,659 3,027 504
Borrowings without security 3,049 2,320 4,091 6,588

Total borrowings 25,521 21,979 7,118 7,092

Opening borrowings 21,979 20,364 7,092 6,271
Currency exchange rate differences 302 -218 15 -
New borrowings 9,361 9,585 3,262 3,053
Amortisation -6,121 -7,752 -3,251 -2,232

Total borrowings 25,521 21,979 7,118 7,092
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       Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Interest fixing, total borrowings
0-1 year 4,104 3,590 6,993 4,013
1-2 years 513 1,884 125 1,571
2-5 years 10,580 6,198 - 854
5-   years 10,325 10,306 - 653
Total 25,521 21,979 7,118 7,092

Capital tied up, total borrowings
0-1 year 3,123 3,381 4,470 4,013
1-2 years 7,473 3,550 1,111 1,571
2-5 years 9,628 9,799 1,537 854
5-   years 5,297 5,249 - 653
Total 25,521 21,979 7,118 7,092

Interest fixing, borrowings against security
0-1 year 3,216 2,408 3,027 483
1-2 years 513 1,834 - 21
2-5 years 9,554 5,765 - -
5-   years 9,189 9,652 - -
Total 22,472 19,659 3,027 504

Capital tied up, borrowings against security
0-1 year 2,547 2,619 1,516 483
1-2 years 6,461 3,500 99 21
2-5 years 8,603 8,945 1,412 -
5-   years 4,861 4,596 - -
Total 22,472 19,659 3,027 504

Note 24 Borrowings, continuation



Akelius Fastigheter AB (publ)
Annual Report 2013

89

        Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Interest fixing, borrowings without security
0-1 year 888 1,183 3,966 3,530
1-2 years - 50 125 1,550
2-5 years 1,025 434 - 854
5-   years 1,136 653 - 653
Total 3,049 2,320 4,091 6,588

Capital tied up, borrowings without security
0-1 year 576 763 2,954 3,530
1-2 years 1,012 50 1 ,012 1,550
2-5 years 1,025 854 125 854
5-   years 436 653 - 653
Total 3,049 2,320 4,091 6,588

         Group
2013 2012

Total borrowings
Average fixed interest, years 5.0 5.4
Average capital tied-up, years 4.6 5.0
Average interest rate, per cent 4.8 4.8

Borrowings against security
Average fixed interest, years 5.3 5.7
Average capital tied-up, years 4.8 5.3
Average interest rate, per cent 4.4 4.6

Borrowings without security
Average fixed interest, years 3.3 2.4
Average capital tied-up, years 2.4 2.8
Average interest rate, per cent 7.2 6.7

Regarding financial policy and financial risk 
management, reference is made to note 
3.1. Long-term borrowings run primarily 
with short-term interest fixing, whilst credit 

margins runs for longer periods. Overvalue 
related to credit margins is estimated to SEK 
70 million.

Note 24 Borrowings, continuation
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Note 25 Derivative financial instrument

         Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Derivative fair value assets

Opening derivative 226 192 - -
Added derivatives 100 3 - -
Outgoing derivatives -226 -1 - -
Revaluation  - 32 - -
Closing balance 100 226 - -

Long-term part 100 206 - -
Short-term part - 20 - -
Total 100 226 - -

Derivative fair value liability
Opening derivative 2,512 2,294 328 -
Added derivatives 91 192 156 92
Outgoing derivatives -45 -84 - -
Revaluation -1,038 110 -253 236
Closing balance 1,520 2,512 231 328

Long-term part 1,496 2,505 231 328
Short-term part 24 7 - -
Total 1520 2,512 231 328

Net fair-value
Assets 100 226 - -
Liability -1,520 -2,512 -231 -328
Total -1,420 -2,286 -231 -328

Derivative financial instruments are used 
in order to obtain desired interest fixing. 
Nominal value of the derivative financial 
instruments for the Group was SEK 17,483 

million (2012: SEK 11,748 million) and for 
the Parent SEK 4,152 million (2012: 2,775 
million).
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        Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Opening liabilities 2,028 1,851 8 6
Profit/loss affecting items 590 233 -8 2
Added liabilities 86 - - -
Outgoing liabilities -23 -56 - -
Reclassification 14 - - -
Closing liabilities 2,695 2,028 - 8

Investment properties 2,681 2,027 - 8
Derivative financial instruments 14 - - -
Untaxed reserves - 1 - -
Total 2,695 2,028 - 8

  Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Rent deposits 15 101 - -
Other non-current payables 10 - - -
Non-current trade and other payables 25 101 - -

Accounts payable 199 172 6 6
Prepaid rental income 347 92 - 2
Accrued interest expense 117 118 - 34
Other accrued cost 13 26 22 12
Other current payables 86 70 - 2
Current trade and other payables 762 478 28 56

Total trade and other payables 787 579 28 56

Note 26 Deferred tax liabilities

Note 27 Trade and other payables
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Note 28 Securities pledged

Note 29 Contingent obligations

Note 30 Close relations

        Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Pledged bank assets 116 101 - -

Property mortgages 25,545 20,698 - 348

Shares in subsidiaries 435 315 - -
Total 26,096 21,114 - 348

  Group          Parent company
2013 2012 2013 2012

Collateral subsidiaries - - 19,049 17,446
Guarantees provided 336 1,093 336 1,093
Total 336 1,093 19,385 18,539

Akelius Apartments Ltd, Cyprus owns all 
shares in Akelius Fastigheter AB and has a 
controlling influence over the Group. Akelius 
Apartments Ltd is a subsidiary to Akelius 
Foundation, Bahamas. The Board and senior 
executives are also related parties to Akelius 
Fastigheter AB. In addition to these related 
party relations, the Parent Company has a 

controlling influence over its subsidiaries as 
presented in Note 20.

Related party transactions
The following transactions have taken place 
with companies in the Akelius Foundation 
Group.

2013 2012
Purchase of properties 290 -
Purchase of financial services 253 210
Sales of financial services 65 54
Sales of other services 9 -
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Note 30 Close relations, continuation

 In March 2014, Akelius Fastigheter acquired 
a property portfolio in England from a fellow 
subsidiary.

Note 31 Events after the end of the financial year

Companies controlled by:
Board members Other related parties

2013
Purchase of services 2 6
Purchase of fixed assets 689 345

2012
Purchase of services 2 7

The following transactions have taken 
place with companies controlled by board 

members or senior executives or related 
parties to the aforementioned.

Related party transactions have taken 
place on market terms and conditions. For 
disclosures on remuneration to the Board 
and senior executives, see Note 10. For 
disclosures on intragroup interest income 

and interest expenses, see Notes 13 and 
14. No board member or senior executive 
has directly or indirectly participated in any 
business transaction with Akelius other than 
those disclosed in this note and Note 10.
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2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec

Equity
Equity, SEK m 15,169 9,970 8,567 8,211 7,512
Equity to assets ratio, per cent 33 27 26 28 24
Risk capital to assets ratio, per cent 46 39 41 46 39

Interest-bearing liabilities
Loan-to-value, secured loans, per cent 49 53 50 48 64
Loan-to-value, total loans, per cent 56 59 60 61 77
Interest coverage ratio, secured loans 1.4 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.5
Interest coverage ratio, total loans 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.2

Fixed interest rates
Average interest rate secured loans, per cent 4.42 4.63 4.94 5.28 4.84
Average interest rate total loans, per cent 4.75 4.85 5.26 5.63 5.20
Fixed-interest term secured loans, year 5.3 5.7 5.8 5.8 5.8
Capital tied up secured loans, year 4.8 5.3 6.0 5.0 5.7

Properties
Number of apartments 41,319 35,443 35,151 31,502 32,988
Rentable area, thousand sq m 2,992 2,576 2,632 2,424 2,527

Efficiency in asset management
Growth in rental income*, per cent 5.8 4.4 3.8 - -
Growth in operating surplus*, per cent 6.7 4.1 8.3 - -
Real vacany rate residential, per cent 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.6 1.0

Fair value properties, SEK m
Opening 35,437 32,352 28,269 29,255 33,053
Exchange differences 454 -359 -44 -838 -342
Change in value 1,569 2,671 1,025 356 -158
Investments 1,531 1,493 1,138 917 521
Acquisitions 6,901 1,663 3,792 972 717
Sales -1,801 -2,383 -1,828 -2,392 -4,536
Closing 44,091 35,437 32,352 28,269 29,255

Fair value, SEK per sq m 14,736 13,755 12,292 11,662 11,577
Required yield, per cent 4.75 4.73 5.07 5.09 5.12
Change required yield*, per cent -0.01 -0.28 0.01 - -

Key figures

*For comparable property holdings
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*For comparable property holdings

** The property portfolio in Toronto, Canada, was acquired at the end of 2013. The above 
table shows the development as if the Group had owned the properties since 2011.

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec

Properties Sweden
Average residential rent, SEK/sq m/year 1,114 1,074 1,026 967 953
Growth in average residential rent*, per cent 5.8 5.0 5.1 1.9 3.8
Growth in rental income*, per cent 5.5 3.8 - - -
Growth in operating surplus*, per cent 3.3 5.2 - - -
Fair value, SEK m 26,784 23,456 22,574 21,377 22,633 
Fair value, SEK per sq m 14,115 13,809 12,055 11,435 11,282 
Required yield, per cent 4.84 4.79 5.15 5.15 5.20
Number of apartments 23,867 21,707 23,354 22,926 25,079

Properties Germany
Average residential rent, EUR/sq m/month 7.80 7.53 7.19 6.85 6.52
Growth in average residential rent*, per cent 5.6 5.6 7.0 4.0 4.1
Growth in rental income*, per cent 6.8 6.8 - - -
Growth in operating surplus*, per cent 13.7 1.0 - - -
Fair value, SEK m 15,549 11,981 9,778 6,892 6,622
Fair value, SEK per sq m 15,398 13,649 12,903 12,623 13,303
Required yield, per cent 4.64 4.64 4.87 4.91 4.80
Number of apartments 15,769 13,736 11,797 8,576 7,909

Properties Canada**
Average residential rent, CAD/sq ft/month 1.94 2.01 1.34 - -
Growth in average residential rent*, per cent 7.7 11.2 - - -
Growth in rental income*, per cent 20.6 - - - -
Growth in operating surplus*, per cent 56.4 - - - -
Fair value, SEK m 1,758 1,074 26 - -
Fair value, SEK per sq m 20,710 22,026 19,833 - -
Required yield, per cent 4.47 4.52 4.25 - -
Number of apartments 1,683 1,046 17 - -
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Definitions

Capital tied up  Average capital tied up is calculated taking secured but unutilised credit 
commitments into consideration. 

Equity to assets ratio  Equity in relation to total assets.

Interest coverage ratio,  Profit/loss before income tax with add-back of depreciations, 
impairment charges, the cost of property sales, interest expenses, 
changes in value of assets and liabilities in relation to interest expenses 
for secured loans.

Interest coverage ratio,   Profit/loss before income tax with add-back of depreciations, 
impairment charges, the cost of property sales, interest expenses, 
changes in value of assets and liabilities in relation to interest expenses 
for all loans.

Loan-to-value, Secured interest-bearing liabilities in relation to total assets.

Loan-to-value,  Secured and unsecured interest-bearing liabilities in relation to total assets.

Operating surplus margin  Operating surplus in relation to rental income.

Real vacancy rate  The total number of vacant apartments less the number of apartments 
vacant due to renovation work in relation to the total number of 
apartments. 

Risk capital  Equity, deferred tax liability and unsecured interest-bearing liabilities.

Risk capital to assets ratio  Risk capital in relation to total assets.

Vacancy rate  The number of vacant apartments in relation to the total number of 
apartments.

 secured loans

 secured loans

total loans

total loans
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Signatures

To the best of our knowledge the annual accounts have been prepared using generally 
accepted accounting policies. The annual accounts give a true and fair view of the company’s 
financial position and performance and the administration report gives a fair review of the 
development of the company’s operations, financial position and performance and describes 
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group.

The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the international set of 
accounting standards referred to in Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 19 July 2002 on the application of international accounting standards. 
The consolidated accounts give a true and fair picture of the Group’s financial position and per-
formance and the administration report gives a fair review of the development of the Group’s 
operations, financial position and performance and describes the principal risks and uncertain-
ties facing the Group and the companies in the Group.

Danderyd, 8 April 2014

Leif Norburg Roger Akelius  Anders Janson 
Chair of the Board         

Pål Ahlsén Igor Rogulj 
Managing Director

Our audit report for these annual accounts was issued on 8 April 2014.

Mats Nilsson Helena Ehrenborg 
Chartered Accountant Chartered Accountant



Sweden
Svärdvägen 3A 
Box 104, S-182 12 Danderyd

Tel + 46 (0) 8 566 130 00

www.akelius.se

Germany
Leipziger Platz 14 
D-10117 Berlin

Tel + 49 (0) 30 7554 110

www.akelius.de

Canada
289 Niagara Street 
Toronto M6J 0C3

Tel + 1 (416) 214-2626

www.akelius.ca
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